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Years of  
Strategic 
Growth

Celebrating  



Against the backdrop of an increasingly 
challenging environment, we stay 
focused on harnessing the diverse 

strengths of our talents. Resultantly, 
besides strong teamwork and creative 

energy, we remain resilient and continue 
to grow and stay ahead of our game.

The future is full of 
possibilities.
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Corporate Profile

Established in 1977, King Wan Corporation Limited 
is a Singapore-based integrated building services 
company with principal activities in the provision 
of Mechanical and Electrical (M&E) engineering 
services for the building and construction industry. 
Over the past four decades, King Wan has grown 
from strength to strength to expand beyond its 
core business, and successfully ignited new 
growth engines to propel the Group for greater 
shareholders’ value. The Group operates through 
its network of subsidiaries and associates in 
Singapore, China and Thailand.

The Group operates principally in two major 
business segments as follows:

MECHANICAL & ELECTRICAL 
ENGINEERING AND SERVICES 
SEGMENT
The Group provides multi-disciplined M&E 
engineering services such as the design and 
installation of plumbing and sanitary systems, air-
conditioning and mechanical ventilation systems, 
electrical systems, fire protection and alarm 
systems, communications and security systems 
for the building and construction industry. It also 
provides mobile chemical lavatories for rental and 
ancilliary facilities for construction worksites as 
well as public and nationwide public events.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO SEGMENT
Through direct investments, the Group now 
operates in three other business sectors i.e. Vessel 
Ownership and Chartering, Property Development, 
and Operation of Workers’ Dormitory.

Photo Credit to City Gate

Photo Credit to Seaside Residences
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Our Values

Photo Credit to Park Mall Redevelopment

PASSION
We approach every task 
with heart and passion.

PEOPLE
We value the contribution 

of each and every 
member of our team and 

seek to develop all staff 
to their fullest potential.

INTEGRITY & 
PROFESSIONALISM
We do our jobs with the 
highest level of integrity 
and professionalism.

QUALITY & RELIABILITY
We aim to provide services 
that are unsurpassed in quality 
and reliability attained through 
regulated, coordinated planning 
and management while ensuring 
competitive cost execution.

COMMITMENT
We are fully committed to our 
customers, our staff and our 

shareholders to give them returns 
that exceed their expectations.

Artist’s Impression

Annual Report 2017 03



Artist’s Impression
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Chairman’s Statement

Led by the Board of Directors, our team of dedicated staff has again demonstrated 
great commitment, integrity, professionalism and most of all passion when they tackled 
all challenges head-on.”

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS
I am happy to report that we have been able to turn 
around the performance of the Group from a loss of 
S$17.9 million in FY2016 to a profit of S$1.0 million this 
financial year.

The Group’s core business in Mechanical & Electrical 
(M&E) business had continued to form the backbone 
to the Group’s performance during the year. By riding 
on technology innovation, it has continued to drive the 
Group forward by expanding its portfolio of services and 
client base. 

Business environment in the construction industry 
remains challenging. Regulatory changes in the 
construction industry require us to employ new 
technologies and techniques which require our teams 
not only to learn, but adapt, be proficient and efficient 
when using these techniques. If we are not able to use 
these new technologies efficiently, the risk is that the 
technologies we are familiar with will eventually become 
obsolete.

We intend to continue developing our team in the 
learning and application of new technologies in our 
processes and projects so that we can capitalize on any 
opportunities that arise. 

YEAR IN REVIEW
The Group has managed to reverse the net loss from 
the last financial year. The Group’s revenue for FY2017 
was S$91.9 million, still a credible achievement 
compared to the S$100.8 million recorded in FY2016. 
The 9% decline was due to a relatively smaller order 
book for Mechanical and Electrical (M&E) contracts 
prevailing throughout the year resulting in lower revenue 
recognizable. Overall, gross profit margin for the works 
completed in FY2017 was 15.1%, slightly lower than 
the 16.2% achieved in FY2016. 

The profitability of the M&E business has filtered 
through the Group resulting in profits after income tax 
of S$1.0 million, a reversal of the net loss after income 
tax of S$17.9 million recorded in the previous financial 
year. The improved performance is also attributable to 
higher contributions from associates that deals with: 

i. Investment in the Skywoods residential development 
project in Singapore, which has been fully completed 
and sold.

ii. Appreciation in value of investment properties held.
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15.1%
gross profit margin for the 
works completed in FY2017

S$91.9 
million
revenue for FY2017

Artist’s Impression

SOUND FINANCIAL POSITION
Despite a very tough year, the Group’s financial position 
continues to be strong. The Group’s net assets stood 
at S$75.1 million as at 31 March 2017, converting to a 
net asset value of 21.5 cents per share. Cash and cash 
equivalents stand at to S$13.1 million as at 31 March 
2017, a credible improvement compared to S$5.6 million 
as at 31 March 2016.

STRENGTHENING M&E BUSINESS
The Group has once again perform well to increase its 
spectrum of M&E projects from both the private and 
public sectors. Among some of our noteworthy key 
projects completed during the year include residential 
projects such as Jurong West N6C31, Thomson Grand, 
Jewel@Buangkok, Riversails, Parc Centros, Waterwoods 
EC, Le Nouvel Ardmore and The Skywoods and 
commercial projects such as the Assisi Hospice, Yishun 
Junction 9, Crowne Plaza Hotel extension and our very 
own Tuas South Dormitory.

The Group also did extremely well in securing of new 
projects under very competitive conditions. Some of the 
residential projects secured include the GEM Residences, 
City Gate, The Clement Canopy, Watercove, Sembawang 
N1C1, Bukit Panjang N6C12 and Bukit Panjang N6C15. 
Non-residential projects include the Selarang Park 
Complex, redevelopment of the Park Mall, JTC Furniture 
Hub, 4-in-1 rail and bus depot and reception tunnels for the 
Thomson East Coast Line and works to effect 3 runway 
operations at Singapore Changi Airport.

The Group currently has approximately S$168 million 
worth of the M&E engineering contracts on hand, out 
of which S$72 million worth of contracts were secured 
during the financial year.

OTHER INVESTMENTS
Vessel Ownership & Chartering
The vessel chartering sector is showing signs of 
recovery as evident in the improvement in recent 
charter hire rates in the market. However, the global 

economic environment remains very challenging for 
the sector. A sharp recovery in charter hire rates in the 
next 12 months is unlikely. Rather, a more sustainable 
and gradual improvement is expected, barring any 
unforeseen circumstances in the global economy. In 
the meantime, stiff pressure is still expected on charter 
rates. The Group will continue to engage reputable 
charterers who can provide high revenue visibility as 
well as steady funds inflows for the associate.

Property Development
The Group’s 20%-owned associate’s condominium 
project, the 420-unit The Skywoods at Diary Farm 
Heights, which was fully sold by the end of 2016, also 
secured its Temporary Occupation Permit (“TOP”) 
during the year. This will mark the completion of all the 
property development projects in Singapore.

The property development sector in China remains 
challenging. The Group will complete all construction 
work already started and will not commence any new 
phases under the Singapore Garden development until 
the market shows adequate demand.

Investment in Workers’ Dormitory
The Group’s investment in the Tuas South Dormitory, 
a purpose-built 9,180- bed workers’ dormitory, has 
commenced full operations during the year. The Tuas 
South Dormitory is one of the largest purpose-built 
workers’ accommodation facilities in the country 
that caters to foreign workers in the marine, process, 
manufacturing and construction industries.

With the gradual development of industrial and 
commercial facilities in Western Singapore, the 
Group expects the demand for quality purpose built 
accommodation for foreign workers to increase steadily 
over the next few years.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
The Building and Construction Authority (BCA) projects 
the total construction demand or the value of construction 
contracts to be awarded this year to reach between 
$28.0 billion and $35.0 billion, higher than the preliminary 
estimate of $26.1 billion. The public sector is expected 
to contribute about 70% of the total construction 
demand, boosted by an increase in demand for most 
building types and civil engineering works. In view of the 
current slowdown in the property market and continued 
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Chairman’s Statement

economic uncertainties, the private sector construction 
demand is likely to remain subdued and is projected to 
stay between $8.0 billion and $11.0 billion this year. 

The average construction demand is projected to be 
between $26.0 billion and $35.0 billion per annum in 
2018 and 2019 and between $26.0 billion and $37.0 billion 
per annum in 2020 and 2021. Besides public housing 
developments and more healthcare and educational 
facilities, public sector demand over the medium term will 
be supported by various upcoming mega infrastructure 
projects such as the Jurong Regional Line, Cross Island 
Line, and various infrastructure developments.

Given its solid track record and well-established 
reputation as a reliable and efficient provider of M&E 
engineering services in the building and construction 
industry, we believe that our M&E engineering business 
will continue to be the main driving force for the Group 
in the near future. The Group will continue to grow its 
presence in Singapore by bidding for a wide spectrum 
of M&E engineering projects, dealing in different trades 
and business sectors. The Group also plans to improve its 
project delivery efficiency via management optimization 
and leveraging on technology innovation.

DIVIDENDS
The Company declared a 0.5 cent interim dividend during 
the financial year but in anticipation of a very challenging 
operating environment in the next 12 months, the Board 
of Directors has not recommended that a dividend be 
paid for the financial year just ended. 

The Board of Directors is aware of the importance of 
rewarding shareholders but at the same time, has to 
remain mindful of the importance of conserving cash in 
the current economic climate.

The Board of Directors will continue to monitor the 
Group’s cash position carefully and will make any 
dividend payment decisions after prioritizing the Group’s 
cash requirement.

NOTE OF APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my 
heartfelt appreciation to all stakeholders who have been 
instrumental in King Wan’s success over the last 40 
years – customers, business associates, management 
team, staff and shareholders. I am thankful for the 
steely and unwavering support of our business partners 
through both good years and bad. I believe that our long 
term strategic partnership can withstand the trials of 
time and will be instrumental in helping us surmount 
any upcoming obstacles and ensure the profitability 

of King Wan’s business operations in years to come. 
I look forward to further enrich and strengthen the 
commitment of our management team and staff so that 
each and every one can proudly claim a share towards 
the success of the Company.

On behalf of the Company, I would also like to express 
my deepest appreciation to Mr. Nathapun Siriviriyakul, 
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
since 2008. Mr. Nathapun Siriviriyakul, who is retiring 
pursuant to Article 116 of the Company’s Constitution, 
has indicated that he does not wish to seek re-election 
at the upcoming AGM. The Board has benefited greatly 
from his contributions during his time with the Board. I 
wish him every success in all his future endeavours.

We will continue to build upon our strengths and seek 
to enhance our market leadership position in our core 
businesses. We will remain vigilant and alert to any new 
growth opportunities, both local and overseas.

Last but not least, I would like to thank the Board of 
Directors for their invaluable advice, guidance and 
support. I am filled with great enthusiasm to bring King 
Wan to even greater heights in the years to come.

CHUA KIM HUA
Chairman

Photo Credit to Marc Tey Photography and New Space Architects.
Assisi Hospice
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Group Structure

100%
King Wan
Development Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

40%
Meadows Bright
Development Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

50%
Bukit Timah Green
Development Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
Dalian Shicheng
Property Development
Co., Ltd (China)

36.6%
Dalian Shicheng Property
Development (S) Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

30%
S.I. Property Co., Ltd
(Thailand)

100%
King Wan
Industries Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

50%
Soon Zhou
Investments Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

49%
Chang Li
Investments Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

49%
Soon Li  
Investments Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

49%
Li Ta Investments Pte. Ltd. 
(Singapore)

100%
Harmony Investment
Holding Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
Gold Topaz
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
K&W Mobile Loo 
Services Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
King Wan 
Construction Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
Shinergy  
Engineering Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) 
(Incorporated on May 18, 2017)

19%
Nexus Point 
Investments Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
Blue Oasis
Investments Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

100%
Dalian Blue Oasis 
Properties Co., Ltd.
(China)

30%
Gold Hyacinth
Development
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

CORE 
BUSINESS

INVESTMENT 
PORTFOLIO
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Board of Directors

CHUA KIM HUA
Group Chairman
First appointed – 8 February 2000, 
Re-appointed – 28 July 2016

Mr Chua Kim Hua, 77, serves 
as the Group’s Chairman and is 
also a member of the Nomination 
Committee. Bringing with him more 
than 40 years of experience in the 
building and construction industry, he 
started his career in 1967 as a licensed 
Public Utilities Board electrician. 
He joined the Group as a Director 
in July 1983 and paved the way for 
its expansion and diversification.  
Mr Chua has been playing a pivotal 
role in steering and stabilizing the 
Group’s businesses. He continues to 
lead its efforts to actively seek new 
business opportunities for the Group 
and is responsible for its long-term 
growth and development.

He has been conferred the Long 
Service Award by the Ministry 
of Education and has also been 
awarded the Public Service Medal, 
Pingat Bakti Masyarakat (PBM) and 
the Public Service Star, Bintang Bakti 
Masyarakat (BBM).

CHUA HAI KUEY 
Executive Director
First appointed – 8 February 2000, 
Re-elected – 28 July 2016

Mr Chua Hai Kuey, 66, is an 
Executive Director of the Group and 
the Managing Director of King Wan 
Construction Pte Ltd. He is responsible 
for the Group’s day-today operations 
including the technical, engineering 
and quality control aspects of all 
projects. In addition, he oversees the 
supervision of projects, troubleshoots 
when necessary and takes requisite 
measures to monitor wastage and 
control cost. His job scope also 
includes project management, project 
tenders and quality management.

He holds an advanced level General 
Certificate of Education.

CHUA ENG ENG
Managing Director
First appointed – 9 November 2000,
Re-elected – 30 July 2015

Ms Chua Eng Eng, 47, serves as 
the Managing Director (MD) of the 
Group. She provides leadership and 
direction to deliver performance for 
the Group. As MD, she drives the 
Group strategy and overseas all of 
the Group’s operation, business 
development, corporate planning, 
and the implementation of policies 
and activities. Ms Chua plays a 
crucial role in networking with key 
strategic partners and developing  
the leadership capabilities within  
the Group. She is also responsible 
for administration, investment, 
recruitment, and financial, legal and 
corporate affairs.

She holds a Bachelor of Arts in 
Economics from the National 
University of Singapore.
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GOH CHEE WEE 
Independent Non-Executive Director
First appointed – 9 November 2000, 
Re-elected – 30 July 2015

Mr Goh Chee Wee, 71, is an 
Independent Non-Executive Director.  
He is the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee and a 
member of the Audit Committee. 
He is currently a Director of a 
number of public listed companies. 
He was formerly a Member of 
Parliament and Minister of State 
for Trade and Industry, Labour, and 
Communications. He was also the 
Group Managing Director of listed 
company, Comfort Group Ltd.

Mr Goh holds a Bachelor of Science 
(First-Class Honours) degree from 
the then University of Singapore and 
a Master of Science (Engineering) 
degree from the University of 
Wisconsin, USA.

NATHAPUN SIRIVIRIYAKUL 
Independent Non-Executive Director
First appointed – 6 November 2008,
Re-elected – 28 July 2016

Mr Nathapun Siriviriyakul, 52, is an 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
and a member of the Audit and the 
Remuneration Committees. He was 
Alternate Director to Ms Ganoktip 
Siriviriyakul since 28 November 2006 
before being appointed a full Director 
on 6 November 2008. He is currently 
a Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
of Kaset Thai International Sugar 
Corporation Public Company Limited.

Mr Siriviriyakul holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering from Chulalongkorn 
University and a Master of Business 
Administration from Washington 
State University.

LIM HOCK BENG 
Independent Non-Executive Director
First appointed – 22 June 2001, 
Re-appointed – 28 July 2016

Mr Lim Hock Beng, 77 was appointed 
as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 22 June 2001 and was last 
re-appointed as Director on 30 July 2015. 
He serves as the Chairman of the Group’s 
Audit Committee and is a member of 
the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nominating Committee. Mr Lim is also 
the Lead Independent Director. Since 
1996, Mr Lim has been the managing 
director of Aries Investments Pte Ltd, a 
private investment holding company with 
its principal interests in the investment 
of quoted securities and overseas 
properties. Prior to that, he founded 
Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd (now known 
as Boardroom Corporate & Advisory 
Services (Pte) Ltd) in 1968 and was its 
managing director until his retirement in 
1995. Mr Lim has more than 30 years 
of experience and knowledge in the 
corporate secretarial field, which includes 
advising listed companies on compliance 
with the listing rules. Mr Lim holds a 
Diploma in Management Accounting and 
Finance and is a fellow member of the 
Singapore Institute of Directors. Mr Lim 
is also an independent non-executive 
director of four public listed companies in 
Singapore, namely Huan Hsin Holdings 
Ltd, GP Industries Ltd, TA Corporation 
Ltd and Colex Holdings Limited. He 
currently serves as the chairman of audit 
committees of TA Corporation Ltd and 
Huan Hsin Holdings Ltd, chairman of 
nominating committee of GP Industries 
Ltd as well as chairman of remuneration 
committee of Colex Holdings Limited.
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SIOW NGET YUEN, PRISCILLA
Director
King Wan Construction Pte Ltd (KWC)

Ms Siow Nget Yuen, Priscilla, 66, 
was appointed a Director of KWC in 
November 2000. She first joined KWC 
in August 1978 as an Administration 
and Finance Officer, and was promoted 
to Administration and Finance Manager 
in 1994. She has since been promoted 
Director and now assists the executive 
directors in the areas of human 
resource management, administration 
and finance.

CHEW CHEE YUEN, FRANCIS
Chief Financial Officer
King Wan Corporation Ltd

Mr Chew Chee Yuen, Francis, 
47, oversees the Group’s overall 
financial, accounting and tax matters. 
He is also responsible for financial 
and management reporting of the 
Group and the compliance with 
the regulations of the Singapore 
Exchange. Mr Chew has been with 
the Group for more than 15 years 
and had, prior to joining the Group, 
served as a corporate auditor in a 
multi-national corporation covering 
the Asia Pacific region. He had also 
previously served as an auditor in an 
international public accounting firm in 
Singapore. 

Mr Chew holds a Bachelor of 
Accountancy from the Nanyang 
Technological University. He is a non-
practising member of the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants. 

Management  
& Key Executives

ER SOON KIAT, JOE
Director
King Wan Construction Pte Ltd (KWC)

Mr Er Soon Kiat, Joe, 47, has been 
appointed the company’s Director 
since April 2016. He is responsible 
for overseeing the Airconditioning 
& Mechanical Ventilation Division’s 
operational, design, contracts 
negotiation, project management and 
performance. He first joined KWC 
in November 2001 as a mechanical 
engineer. From then, he was involved 
in various assignments, actively 
contributing to the design and project 
management of the Group’s building 
construction projects as Project 
Manager and subsequently as Director.

With 20 years’ of experience in the 
construction industry, Mr Er holds a 
Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) 
from the Engineering Council of 
the United Kingdom and a Master 
of Science (Building Science) from 
National University of Singapore. He is 
a Registered Chartered Engineer and 
also a Senior Member of the Institution 
of Engineers Singapore.

CHUA KOK CHUAN
Director
King Wan Construction Pte Ltd (KWC)

Mr Chua Kok Chuan, 45, has been 
appointed the company’s Director since 
April 2016. He oversees all operational, 
design and project management and 
is also currently responsible for the 
Plumbing and Sanitary (P&S) and 
Electrical (EL) Division’s contracts 
negotiation, development, planning and 
overall performance. He joined KWC 
in October 1997 as a mechanical and 
electrical engineer. He was instrumental 
in expanding the Division’s operations 
as the Group embarked on commercial 
and institutional projects.

Rising through the ranks over the years 
from Project Manager to Director, he 
has contributed significantly to the 
design, implementation and project 
management of the P&S and EL 
components of the Group’s building 
construction projects.

Mr Chua holds a Bachelor of 
Engineering (Mechanical) from the 
University of Glasgow.
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Business Review

Since its listing in the Singapore 
Exchange in year 2000, King Wan 
has built an enduring business model 
where it builds upon it strengths and 
competencies in its core Mechanical 
and Electrical (M&E) business in 
Singapore, while at the same time, 
diversifies its business through direct 
investments in other businesses. 
The Group now operates in three 
other business sectors i.e. Vessel 
Ownership and Chartering, Property 
Development, and Operation of 
Workers’ Dormitory.

MECHANICAL AND 
ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING & 
SERVICES
The Group’s M&E segment has 
been in business in the building and 
construction industry in Singapore 
for the last 40 years and provides 
a full suite of multi-disciplined 
engineering services, such as the 
design and installation of plumbing 
and sanitary systems, air-con and 
mechanical ventilation systems, 
electrical systems, fire protection and 
alarm systems, communications and 
security systems.
 
Over this time, the Group has 
distinguished itself as a dominant 
player in the industry as well as 
a cost-effective, multi-disciplined 
M&E engineering service provider in 
Singapore. 

The Group has successfully partnered 
with reputable contractors and  
property developers, for M&E projects 
that span different market segments 
including commercial, institutional, 
educational, residential, hotels & 
industrial market segments. Led by 
a very experienced management 
team and armed with a strong track 
record of successful public and private 
sectors projects, the Group has, 
through the years, established itself as 
a highly competitive and reliable outfit, 
with an uncanny ability to enhance 
its business reach and secure new 
contract tenders.

The Group possesses the highest “L6” BCA grading in the following workheads 
of the M&E engineering categories under the contractors’ registry administered 
by the Building & Construction Authority:

Workhead Description

ME12 Plumbing and Sanitary Works

ME15 Integrated Building Services

ME05 Electrical Engineering

ME01 Air-Conditioning, Refrigeration and Ventilation Works

The “L6” BCA grade allows the holder to bid for all public sector contracts in 
Singapore in the relevant workhead category of unlimited contract value. 

In addition, the Group also possesses the following BCA gradings for the following 
workheads:

Workhead Description Grading

CR07 Cable / Pipe Laying & Road Reinstatement L5

ME06 Fire Prevention & Protection Systems L4

CW02 Civil Engineering C3

In the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (FY2017), the revenue from M&E 
business decreased by 7.8% to S$89.0 million as compared to S$96.4 
million recorded in the last financial year (FY2016). The decrease in revenue 
was due to a relatively lower order book during the financial year resulting 
in lower revenue recognisable from ongoing M&E projects. Revenue from 
M&E business accounted for 96.8% per cent of the Group’s total turnover in 
FY2017 (FY2016 : 95.7%).

Photo Credit to JTC Furniture Hub

Artist’s Impression
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Business Review

Group and will continue to contribute 
positively to the Group’s results for the 
next 12 months.

The Group has continued to secure 
contracts of varying natures and 
different trades. This demonstrates 
the Group’s technical competency to 
undertake projects with a wide array 
of requirements.

PORTABLE LAVATORIES
Another component of King Wan’s 
core services include the provision 
of mobile chemical lavatories for 
rental and other ancilliary facilities 
for construction worksites as well as 
public and nationwide public events.

This segment continued to provide 
a stable income for King Wan with a 
contribution of S$2.5 million to the 

Group’s turnover. Contributing 2.7% to 
the Group’s total revenue, it has offered 
a steady recurring income stream to 
the Group for the past 20 years.

This business segment is expected 
to face increased competition in 
the coming year in the view of the 
tougher business environment. This is 
expected to affect different customer 
groups, including customers from 
the tentage, events and construction 
sectors.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
Through direct investments, the Group 
now operates in three other business 
portfolio i.e. Vessel Ownership and 
Chartering, Property Development, and 
Development of Workers’ Dormitory.

1) Property Development
The Property Development segment 
engages in the development, 
marketing and sale of residential and 
commercial properties in Singapore, 
China and Thailand. This is made via 
investments in associate companies, 
in partnership with business partners.

In Singapore, the Group’s investment in 
property development is spearheaded 

Led by a very experienced management team and armed 
with a strong track record of successful public and private 
sectors projects, the Group has, through the years, 
established itself as a highly competitive and reliable outfit, 
with an uncanny ability to enhance its business reach and 
secure new contract tenders. 

The lower revenue resulted in a 15% 
decrease in gross profits to S$13.83 
million in FY2017 from S$16.35 million 
in FY2016.

Gross profit margin for the works done 
in FY2017 was 15.1%, lower than the 
16.2% achieved in FY2016. As at end 
of May 2017, King Wan has amassed 
approximately S$167 million worth of 
M&E engineering contracts on hand, 
out of which S$71.9 million worth of 
contracts were secured in during the 
financial year. 

The M&E business segment is 
expected to remain challenging in 
the next 12 months with continuous 
pressures on contract values and 
stiff competition for new projects. 
Nevertheless, M&E business will 
remain the core business of the 

Tuas South Dormitory
Artist’s Impression
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by Meadows Bright Development Pte 
Ltd, an associate company. During the 
year, the associate’s condominium 
project, the 420-unit The Skywoods 
at Diary Farm Heights, was fully sold 
and secured its Temporary Occupation 
Permit (“TOP”). 

The other project undertaken by 
Meadows Bright is “The Starlight 
Suites”, a 35-storey block comprising 
105 freehold apartments located at 
River Valley Close. Meadows Bright 
has, in May 2016, completed the sale of 
Meadows Property Pte Ltd, its wholly 
owned subsidiary and developer of the 
Starlight Suites project. 

With the completion of both property 
development projects in Singapore, 
there are currently no more ongoing 
developments that the Group is 
participating in. With the completion 
of the developments, the associates 
are also able to repay outstanding 
loans to the Group, thereby further 
strengthening the Group’s financial 
position. 

In China, the Group owns a 36.6 
per cent stake in Dalian Shicheng 
Property Development (S) Pte Ltd, 
which is responsible for its property 
developments in Dalian. The project 
is now into phase 7 of the project, 
which will consist of residential as 
well as shop front units. The local 
market is currently digesting the 
supply which had accumulated in the 
last few years. Buying sentiments are 
healthy but competition for buyers 
remain intense. This condition is 
expected to persist in the short term.

The Group will continue to closely 
monitor the market situation. Any 
further development plans for the 
remaining phases of the development, 
comprising mainly of commercial 
areas, will depend on whether the 
local market conditions improve.

2) Vessel Ownership & Chartering
Through its associate company, 
Gold Hyacinth Development Pte Ltd 
(Gold Hyacinth), the Group owns and 

operates a Crown 58 ‘Supramax’ Bulk 
Carrier, named “Hai Jin”. Designed and 
built to carry dry bulk commodities, 
the carrier has a deadweight of 58,000 
tons and a net tonnage of 19,582 tons.

Based on the existing charter rate 
contracted, the ship chartering business 
is not expected to be profitable in the 
next 12 months. However, the vessel 
chartering sector is showing visible 
signs of recovery as evident in recent 
months with a gradual improvement in 
the charter hire rates noted. The Group 
will seek to secure an improved charter 
rate upon the expiry of the current 
charter hire contract and will continue 
to engage reputable charterers who 
can provide high revenue visibility as 
well as collection. 

3) Workers’ Dormitory
The Group’s investment in the Tuas 
South Dormitory, a purpose-built 
9,180- bed workers’ dormitory, one of 
the largest workers’ dormitory projects 
in Singapore, has commenced full 
operations during the year. There has 
been a steady increase in occupancy 
during the first full year of operations.

Based on the current occupancy 
and rates charged, the associate 
operating the dormitory, Nexus Point 
Investments Pte Ltd, had made an 
impairment to the property during the 

year. As a result of the impairment, the 
Group has assessed its loans made to 
the associate and has corresponding 
made an allowance of S$3.8 million 
on the sums receivable. The allowance 
made would be assessed on a periodic 
basis and relevant adjustments would 
be made accordingly.

With the planned expansion of 
industrial and commercial facilities in 
Western Singapore in the next few 
years, the Group expects the take up 
rate at the dormitory to improve in 
tandem.

4) Kaset Thai International Sugar 
Corporation Public Company 
Limited (“KTIS”)
During the financial year, the share 
price of the KTIS shares had remained 
relatively steady, backed by a stronger 
Thai Baht. KTIS performance had been 
affected by the El Nino effect during 
the year which resulted in droughts 
and caused a reduction in the quantity 
and quality of canes. This had in turn 
resulted in the reduction in sales 
volume of both domestic and export 
sugar during the year. 

Based on the movements of the 
KTIS shares and a stronger Thai Baht, 
the Group had accounted for other 
comprehensive income amounting to 
S$0.62 million.

Photo Credit to The Clement CanopyPhoto Credit to City Gate
Artist’s Impression Artist’s Impression
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Year ended 31 March

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

(S$million) (S$million) (S$million) (S$million) (S$million)

Profit & Loss Account

Turnover 66.3 95.4 85.2 100.8 91.9

Net Profit (Loss) after Tax 7.1 6.7 17.1 (17.9) 1.0

Balance Sheet

Fixed Assets 5.3 5.6 5.3 4.3 4.0

Current and Other Assets 120.6 129.4 156.9 148.0 121.3

Total Assets 125.9 135.0 162.2 152.3 125.3

Short and Long Term Borrowings 15.5 26.2 39.7 51.1 30.9

Other Liabilities 25.5 22.4 24.3 24.8 19.3

Total Liabilities 41.0 48.6 64.0 75.9 50.2

Shareholders’ funds 84.9 86.4 98.2 76.4 75.1

Total Reserves & Liabilities 125.9 135.0 162.2 152.3 125.3

Per Share Data (Cents)

Number of Shares 349,176,870 349,176,870 349,176,870 349,176,870 349,176,870

Earnings (Loss) Per Share (Basic) 2.02 1.93 4.89 (5.12) 0.29

Net Assets 24.31 24.75 28.11 21.89 21.50

Dividend paid/payable (net) 1.50 2.00 1.70 – 0.50

Financial Ratios 

Return on Shareholders’ Funds 8.3% 7.8% 17.4% (23.4%) 1.3%

Return on Total Assets Employed 5.6% 5.0% 10.5% (11.8%) 0.8%

Gross Debt to Total-Equity Ratio 18.3% 30.3% 40.0% 66.9% 41.2%

Dividend Payout 74.3% 103.6% 34.8% – 174.0%

Dividend Cover (times) 1.35 0.97 2.88 – 0.57

Five-year Financial Highlights
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Our Tampines Hub

Turnover 
(S$million)

20142013 2015 2016 2017

Net Assets 
per share 
(cents)

Return on 
Shareholders’ Funds 
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Return on 
Total Assets Employed 
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24.31
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24.75

2015

28.11

2016

21.89

2017
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Financial Charts
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0.8
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Corporate Social Responsibility

to provide designs for print collaterals, such as calendars 
and e-greeting cards. 

We are happy to have progressed in our CSR programme 
since our collaboration with MDAS back in 2015. We 
are continuously working on improving the lives of the 
community. Early this year, we had the privilege of partnering 
45 Rice, a social enterprise dedicated to improving lives 
through nutrition by packing and giving out rice to our 
workers living in our dormitory. 

We have a diverse workforce in terms of ethnicity, religion, 
age, and gender. As a company we have pledged to work 
in close partnership with Singapore National Employers 
Federation (“SNEF”) to ensure fair and merit-based 
employment practices. 

Our management team works continuously to enhance 
and execute our framework of sustainable development 
initiatives; we are aware of our responsibility to address 
complex sustainability challenges and are committed to 
protecting our environment. 

Pollution prevention and resource conservation are essential 
towards a sustainable environment. King Wan has over the 
years been vigilant about exercising “green” practices from 
paper recycling, circulating “Go Green” awareness emails to 
conserving energy. Employees are educated on the rationale 
and methods of saving energy through emails that are sent 
out at regular intervals. In conjunction with the programmes 
in place, we make efforts to constantly remind employees 
to save electricity through the placement of reminders to 
‘unplug’ beside the power switches. 

The future is indeed full of possibilities and King Wan strives 
to play a crucial role in empowering a team for a better 
tomorrow. 

Here at King Wan, providing attentive service to our clients is 
just a start. We believe that our core values work in tandem 
with recognising our responsibility to the community and the 
environment we operate in. Every employee plays a part in 
applying appropriately to its distinct needs: minimizing harm, 
maximizing benefits, being accountable and responsive to 
stakeholders while supporting strong business performance. 

Employee volunteerism is a distinct component of our 
corporate DNA. We have continued to be active in 
supporting the Muscular Dystrophy Association (Singapore)
(“MDAS”) by volunteering at their Power Soccer sessions. 
For the second year running, we have been facilitating their 
Annual National League (“NDL”) organised by the Singapore 
Disability Sports Council. 

To help raise funds in support of MDAS, our employees from 
different departments have volunteered their time and talents 
in various areas.

Our culinary teams took to the stove and cooked up a storm, 
satisfying the palates of company staff, sub contractors and 
friends with familiar local delights like tea leaf eggs, sweet 
potato dessert soup, bentos and thunder rice tea.

Our staff also took part as tin bearers in MDAS’s flag day that 
was conducted internally. 

All the funds raised went directly into supporting essential 
programmes and services for beneficiaries such as therapy 
sessions to help slow down muscles deterioration and 
sending beneficiaries to school in specialised vehicles.

We are avid supporters of BizPower, a centre-based 
employment programme that offers young adults with 
severe muscular dystrophy the opportunity to engage in 
meaningful employment. We engage them on project basis 

MDAS flag day

Employees working on shifts 
to pack fortified rice for our 
foreign workers A fulfilling day of rice packing for our employees

King Wan volunteers facilitated the 
Annual National Disability League 
2016 Power Soccer Competition
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Directors’ Statement

The directors present their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement 
of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2017.

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 26 to 96 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at March 31, 2017, and the financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date 
of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

 Mr Chua Kim Hua (Chairman)
 Ms Chua Eng Eng (Managing Director)
 Mr Chua Hai Kuey
 Mr Goh Chee Wee
 Mr Lim Hock Beng
 Mr Nathapun Siriviriyakul

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose 
object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures 
in the Company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and 
debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the 
Company under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

Shareholdings registered 
in name of director 

Names of directors and Company in which interests are held At beginning  
of year

At end  
of year

The Company Ordinary shares

Chua Kim Hua 44,113,319 44,113,319

Chua Eng Eng 36,576,906 36,576,906

Chua Hai Kuey 22,247,676 22,247,676

 The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company at April 21, 2017 were the same at March 31, 2017.
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Directors’ Statement

4 SHARE OPTIONS

(a) Options to take up unissued shares

 During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 
were granted.

(b) Options exercised

 During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of 
the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

(c) Unissued shares under options

 At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 
under options.

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee (“AC”) of the Company, consists of all non-executive and independent directors, comprises of the 
following members as at the date of this report:

 Mr Lim Hock Beng (Chairman)
 Mr Goh Chee Wee
 Mr Nathapun Siriviriyakul

 The AC had met up with the external and internal auditors during the year and other directors were also invited to attend 
some of the meetings. The AC had also met with the external auditors and the internal auditors without the presence 
of the management. All minutes of the meetings are circulated to all members of the Board. The company secretary is 
also the secretary to the AC.

 The key responsibility of the AC is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for the Group’s financial reporting, 
management of financial and control risks and monitoring of the internal control system. The AC will make enquiries in 
order to satisfy themselves on the adequacy of the processes supporting the Group’s financial reporting, its system of 
internal control, risk identification and management, its internal and external audit processes, and the Group’s process 
for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own code of business conduct.

 The primary functions of the AC are as follows:

•	 review	 with	 the	 external	 auditors,	 their	 audit	 plan,	 recommendations	 to	 management,	 audit	 report	 and	
management’s response thereto and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss, without the 
presence of management;

•	 review	with	the	internal	auditors,	the	scope	and	the	results	of	internal	audit	procedures	and	their	evaluation	of	
the internal control system together with management’s responses thereto and any matters which the internal 
auditors wish to discuss, without the presence of management;

•	 review	the	financial	statements	of	the	Company	and	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	the	Group	before	
their submission to the directors of the Company and the external auditors’ report on those financial statements;
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Directors’ Statement

5 AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)

•	 review	the	quarterly,	half	yearly	and	annual	announcements	as	well	as	other	announcements	on	to	shareholders	
and the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Ltd (“SGX-ST”) prior to submission to the Board;

•	 make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	appointment	of	the	external	auditors	and	the	audit	fee;

•	 review	any	related	party	transactions;

•	 review	assistance	given	by	the	Group’s	officers	to	the	external	and	internal	auditors	and	ensure	that	the	internal	
audit function is adequately resourced; and

•	 carry	out	such	other	functions	as	may	be	agreed	by	the	AC	and	the	Board.

 To effectively discharge its responsibilities, the AC has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and 
has been given the resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any 
director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the 
AC.

 The AC has reviewed the scope of work proposed by the external auditors and is satisfied with their independence and 
objectivity. The AC has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for reappointment as 
auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The AC has also undertaken a review 
of all non-audit services provided by the auditors and is of the opinion that they will not affect the independence of the 
auditors.

6 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Chua Kim Hua Chua Eng Eng

June 30, 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of King Wan Corporation Limited

OPINION

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of King Wan Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement 
of financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group 
and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 26 to 96.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2017 and of the 
consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and of the 
changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) 
Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of King Wan Corporation Limited

Key Audit Matters Our audit performed and responses thereon

Revenue recognition from construction contracts

The Group’s main revenue is construction revenue from the 
electrical and plumbing and sanitary segments. The Group 
recognises contract revenue and contract cost based on 
the percentage of completion method. The percentage of 
completion is estimated based on the stage of completion 
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period. 

As disclosed in Note 3 (f) to the financial statements, 
significant assumptions are required in determining the 
stage of completion, the estimated total contract revenue 
and contract cost, and the recoverability of the contract 
sum. In making the assumption, the Group relies on past 
experience.

Revenue recognised from construction contracts is 
disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements.

Our audit procedures included:

•	 Evaluating	 the	 design	 and	 implementation	 of	 relevant	
key controls over the preparation of total budgeted 
cost and testing the operating effectiveness of such 
controls.

•	 For	a	selection	of	completed	projects	during	the	year,	
we performed restrospective review by comparing 
the total actual cost incurred at completion against 
the budgeted cost to assess the reasonableness of 
management’s estimate.

•	 For	a	selection	of	projects	in	progress	at	the	end	of	the	
reporting period, we assessed the Group’s assumptions 
on costs to complete the project through agreeing cost 
estimates to supporting documents.

•	 In	 relation	 to	 claims	 or	 variation	 orders	 raised	 against	
customers, we selected samples and checked to 
supporting documents to validate whether it is probable 
that the customer will accept the claims or approve 
the variation order, and whether the amount can be 
measured reliably. We also assessed the historical 
experience of management’s judgement on the 
settlement of claims and variation orders.

The Group’s exposure to DSPDS group’s real estate 
project in Dalian, PRC – Singapore Garden (Refer to 
Notes 3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii), 3(b)(iii) and 3(c) to the financial 
statements).

The Group has significant exposure to the real estate 
project in Dalian, PRC – Singapore Garden as explained 
below.

As at March 31, 2017, the Company and a joint guarantor 
have given joint and several corporate guarantees to a 
bank for the loans taken by associate – DSPDS group and 
joint venture – SZI group amounting to $19,464,586 and 
$17,700,935 respectively. The joint guarantors has equity 
interests in both DSPDS group and SZI group.

The Group has fully impaired its equity investment in 
DSPDS Group as well as advances to DSPDS group.

The Group has not impaired receivables of $18,501,918 
from SZI group as management expects that advances are 
recoverable on the basis set out in Note 3(b)(ii).

In respect of valuation of the Singapore Garden performed 
by professional valuer, we performed the following:

•	 Evaluated	 the	 qualifications,	 independence	 and	
objectivity of the valuer;

•	 Considered	the	scope	of	their	work;	and	
•	 Considered	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 valuation	

methodology and considered the assumptions and 
parameters used which affect the fair value estimates.

In respect of management’s estimates of cost to complete 
the properties under development, we considered the cost 
components, basis and calculations and the relationships 
of these calculations with other evidential matter.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in Notes 
3(b)(i), 3(b)(ii), 3(b)(iii) and 3(c) regarding the significant 
accounting estimates and the assumptions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of King Wan Corporation Limited

Key Audit Matters Our audit performed and responses thereon

Assessments on exposure to payment obligations to the 
bank under the joint and several corporate guarantees for 
loans of DSPDS group and SZI group; and the ability to 
recover the $18,501,918 owed by SZI group are dependent 
on:

(a) ability of SZI group to realise the estimated values of 
the properties;

(b) estimates of the funds required for DSPDC to 
complete construction of uncompleted units; and 

(c) the assumption that the joint guarantor will provide 
50% of the required funds to match the amounts to be 
provided by the Group, to enable DSPDC to complete 
the construction of property units and pay bank loan 
instalments as and when required.

In addition, the Group has advances to associates, Chang 
Li, Li Ta and Soon Li amounting to $3,444,591 (net of 
allowance of $1,088,404) at the end of the reporting period. 
These associates owned the properties purchased from 
DSPDS group. The recoverability of the advances to these 
associates is dependent on the ability of these associates 
to realise the estimated values of the properties.

Assessment of recoverability of debt owing by the 
associates to the Group (Refer to Notes 3(b)(iv) and 
3(b)(v) to the financial statements).

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting 
period whether the advances to these associates are 
recoverable. The advances to these associates at the end 
of the reporting period is $14,050,144 (net of allowance of 
$5,035,341).

The Group’s ability to recover the advances to these 
associates is dependent on the market value of associates’ 
cash generating units estimated by management with the 
assistance of an independent valuer. The cash generating 
units (“CGU”) comprise of a dormitory and a vessel.

The valuation of the CGU included critical judgements and 
estimates which are disclosed in Notes 3(b)(iv) and 3(b)(v) 
to the financial statements.

In respect of valuation of the CGU performed by the 
professional valuer, we performed the following:

•	 Evaluated	 the	 qualifications,	 independence	 and	
objectivity of the valuer;

•	 Considered	the	scope	of	their	work;	and	
•	 Considered	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 valuation	

methodology and considered the assumptions and 
parameters used which affect the fair value estimates.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in Notes 
3(b)(iv) and 3(b)(v) regarding the significant accounting 
estimates and the assumptions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of King Wan Corporation Limited

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide 
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements 
and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.
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(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ang Poh Choo.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

June 30, 2017
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Statements of Financial Position
March 31, 2017

Group Company

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016 

$ $ $ $ 

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 13,130,401 5,567,519 789,250 401,002

Trade receivables 7 10,649,491 9,031,859 - -

Other receivables and prepayments 8 12,051,199 48,412,406 12,324 11,700

Amount due from subsidiaries 9 - - 6,923,284 7,107,146

Held-for-trading investments 10 326,679 584,277 - -

Inventories 11 706,622 1,119,163 - -

Construction work-in-progress 12 13,346,528  13,202,057 - -

Total current assets 50,210,920  77,917,281 7,724,858  7,519,848

Non-current assets

Other receivables 8 35,996,653 36,185,370 - -

Property, plant and equipment 13 3,990,780 4,294,644 - 4,522

Investment in subsidiaries 14 - - 26,399,413 26,142,151

Investment in associates and joint ventures 15 2,861,671 2,509,922 941,960 1,990,592

Available-for-sale investments 16 32,225,051  31,392,803 24,687,834  24,207,866

Total non-current assets 75,074,155  74,382,739 52,029,207 52,345,131

Total assets 125,285,075 152,300,020 59,754,065 59,864,979

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position
March 31, 2017

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group Company

Note 2017 2016 2017 2016 

$ $ $ $ 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Bank borrowings 17 19,402,370 24,480,995 - -

Construction work-in-progress 12 3,294,993 3,969,455 - -

Trade payables and bills payables 18 21,043,115 35,510,743 - -

Other payables 19 2,163,453 4,627,470 1,418,463 3,796,202

Current portion of finance leases 20 272,396 270,636 - -

Amount due to a subsidiary 21 - - 5,742,440 10,409,299

Provision for rectification costs 22 912,533 988,383 - -

Income tax payable 1,603,483  1,956,952 51,916  40

Total current liabilities 48,692,343  71,804,634 7,212,819 14,205,541

Non-current liabilities

Bank borrowings 17 1,299,144 3,619,475 - -

Finance leases 20 179,359 239,618 - -

Deferred tax liabilities 23 24,359  214,859 - -

Total non-current liabilities 1,502,862  4,073,952 - -

Capital and reserves

Share capital 24 46,813,734 46,813,734 46,813,734 46,813,734

Retained earnings 28,764,158 29,506,795 5,247,543 (1,154,296)

Foreign currency translation reserve 25 (1,075,761) 100,905 - -

Investment revaluation reserve 26 587,739 - 479,969 -

Total equity 75,089,870  76,421,434 52,541,246 45,659,438

Total liabilities and equity 125,285,075 152,300,020 59,754,065 59,864,979
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Group

Note 2017 2016

$ $

Revenue 27 91,884,123  100,757,821

Cost of sales (78,054,108)  (84,405,922)

Gross profit 13,830,015 16,351,899

Other operating income 28 2,876,541 3,342,149

Other gains 29 9,432 9,407

Administrative expenses (7,111,404) (7,254,994)

Other operating expenses 30 (9,608,229) (24,889,432)

Share of profit (loss) of associates 15 3,653,047 (2,128,099)

Finance costs 31 (1,282,740)  (1,371,946)

Profit (Loss) before income tax 2,366,662 (15,941,016)

Income tax expense 32 (1,363,415)  (1,953,070)

Profit (Loss) for the year 33 1,003,247 (17,894,086)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale investments 26 587,739 (13,048,271)

Reclassification to profit or loss from equity  
on impairment of available-for-sale investments 30 - 12,742,717

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 25 (1,176,666) (55,765)

Other comprehensive loss for the year (588,927)  (361,319)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 414,320  (18,255,405)

Earnings (Loss) per share (cents)

Basic and diluted 34 0.29 (5.12)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2017
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Statements of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2017

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Share
capital

Retained
earnings

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Investment
revaluation

reserve Total

$ $ $ $ $ 

Group

Balance at March 31, 2015 46,813,734 50,892,450  156,670 305,554 98,168,408

Total comprehensive loss for the year:

 Loss for the year - (17,894,086) - - (17,894,086)

 Other comprehensive loss for the year - -  (55,765) (305,554)  (361,319)

Total - (17,894,086)  (55,765) (305,554) (18,255,405)

Transactions recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends (Note 35) -  (3,491,569) - -  (3,491,569)

Balance at March 31, 2016 46,813,734 29,506,795  100,905 - 76,421,434

Total comprehensive income for the year:

 Profit for the year - 1,003,247 - - 1,003,247

 Other comprehensive loss for the year - - (1,176,666) 587,739 (588,927)

Total - 1,003,247 (1,176,666) 587,739 414,320

Transactions recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends (Note 35) - (1,745,884) - - (1,745,884)

Balance at March 31, 2017 46,813,734 28,764,158 (1,075,761) 587,739 75,089,870
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Statements of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2017

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Share
capital

Retained
earnings

Investment
revaluation

reserve Total

$ $ $ $ 

Company

Balance at March 31, 2015 46,813,734 24,246,878 235,621 71,296,233

Total comprehensive loss for the year: 

 Loss for the year - (21,909,605) - (21,909,605)

 Other comprehensive loss for the year - - (235,621)  (235,621)

Total - (21,909,605) (235,621) (22,145,226)

Transactions recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends (Note 35) -  (3,491,569) -  (3,491,569)

Balance at March 31, 2016 46,813,734  (1,154,296) - 45,659,438

Total comprehensive income for the year:

 Profit for the year - 8,147,723 - 8,147,723

 Other comprehensive profit for the year - - 479,969 479,969

Total - 8,147,723 479,969 8,627,692

Transactions recognised directly in equity:

 Dividends (Note 35) - (1,745,884) - (1,745,884)

Balance at March 31, 2017 46,813,734 5,247,543 479,969 52,541,246
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2017 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Operating activities

Profit (Loss) before income tax 2,366,662 (15,941,016)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,140,357 1,180,263

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 19,355 77,402

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables 149,428 214,852

Reversal of allowance for inventories obsolescence (16,543) (4,828)

Inventories written off 4,451 -

Change in fair value of held-for-trading investments 7,598 28,581

Dividend income from held-for-trading investments (9,432) (9,407)

Dividend income from available-for-sale investments (435,274) (814,810)

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 172 - 

Interest income (1,015,631) (1,558,855)

Interest expense 1,282,740 1,371,946

Allowance for amounts due from associates 7,441,715 11,841,516

Impairment loss on investment in an associate 2,139,389 -

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments - 12,742,717

Share of (profit) loss of associates (3,653,047) 2,128,099

Provision for (Reversal of) rectification costs 190,843 (280,816)

Fee income from financial guarantee to associates (741,323)  (502,649)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 8,871,460 10,472,995

Trade receivables (1,767,060) 3,810,378

Other receivables and prepayments 150,788 (141,449)

Construction work-in-progress (817,716) (2,191,592)

Inventories 424,633 145,110

Trade payables and bills payables (14,467,628) 2,250,372

Other payables (1,838,928) 76,051

Provision for rectification costs (266,693)  (139,028)

Cash (used in) generated from operations (9,711,144) 14,282,837

Income taxes paid (1,907,384) (1,449,470)

Interest paid (1,282,740)  (1,371,946)

Net cash (used in) from operating activities (12,901,268) 11,461,421
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2017 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Investing activities

Interest received 2,481,993  37,466

Advances to associates and joint venture (6,380,000) (22,888,000)

Repayment of advances from an associate 33,971,504 -

Dividends received from held-for-trading investments 9,432 9,407

Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 435,274 814,810

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note A) (605,425) (222,434)

Purchase of available-for-sale investments (245,289) -

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 9,755 8,627

Proceeds from sale of held-for-trading investments 250,000 -

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 608 -

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 29,927,852 (22,240,124)

Financing activities

Dividends paid (1,745,884) (3,491,769)

Dividends refunded - 200

Repayments of obligations under finance leases (Note A) (319,894) (278,702)

Proceeds from bank borrowings - 10,800,000

Repayments of bank borrowings (7,398,956)  (2,028,736)

Net cash (used in) from financing activities (9,464,734)  5,000,993

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,561,850 (5,777,710)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,567,519 11,350,261

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currencies 1,032  (5,032)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 6) 13,130,401  5,567,519

Note A:

In 2017, the Group purchased property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $866,820 (2016 : $222,434) of which 
$261,395 (2016 : Nil) was acquired under finance lease arrangements. 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017 

1 GENERAL

 The Company (Registration No. 200001034R) is incorporated in Singapore with its registered office and principal 
place of business at No. 8 Sungei Kadut Loop, Singapore 729455. The Company is listed on the mainboard of 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in 
the Group are principally engaged in activities as disclosed in Notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements respectively.

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2017 were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on June 30, 2017.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis 
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as 
net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	entity	
can access at the measurement date; 

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	
liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS – On April 1, 2016, the Group adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. 
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s and Company’s 
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

33Annual Report 2017



Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRS and amendments to FRS that are 
relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:

•	 FRS	109	Financial Instruments(1)

•	 FRS	115	Revenue from Contracts with Customers (with clarifications issued)(1)

•	 FRS	116	Leases(2)

(1) Applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.
(2) Applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted if FRS 115 is 

adopted.

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.

 Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and amendments to FRS in future periods will not have 
a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their initial adoption 
except for the following where management is still assessing the effects:

 FRS 109 Financial Instruments

 FRS 109 was issued in December 2014 to replace FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 
introduced new requirements for (i) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities (ii) 
general hedge accounting (iii) impairment requirements for financial assets.

 Key requirements of FRS 109:

•	 All	recognised	financial	assets	that	are	within	the	scope	of	FRS	39	are	now	required	to	be	subsequently	measured	
at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Specifically, debt investments that are held within 
a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at 
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and 
that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI). All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at FVTPL at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under FRS 109, entities may make an irrevocable election, at initial 
recognition, to measure an equity investment (that is not held for trading) at FVTOCI, with only dividend income 
generally recognised in profit or loss.

•	 With	some	exceptions,	financial	liabilities	are	generally	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost.	With	regard	
to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, FRS 109 requires that the amount of change 
in fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk to be presented in other 
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch to profit or loss. Changes in fair value 
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

•	 In	relation	to	the	impairment	of	financial	assets,	FRS	109	requires	an	expected	credit	loss	model,	as	opposed	
to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for 
expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 
before credit losses are recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 FRS 109 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

•	 The	 new	 general	 hedge	 accounting	 requirements	 retain	 the	 three	 types	 of	 hedge	 accounting	 mechanisms	
currently available in FRS 39. Under FRS 109, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions 
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging 
instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. 
In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic 
relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure 
requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

Management anticipates that the initial application of the new FRS 109 will result in changes in the accounting 
policies relating to the recognition and measurement of its financial assets and liabilities, such as the available-for-
sale investments and receivables. Additional disclosures will also be made with respect to the business model on 
its investments and expected credit loss model. It is currently impracticable to disclose any further information on 
the known or reasonably estimable impact to the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application as 
management has yet to complete its detailed assessment. Management does not plan to early adopt the new FRS 
109.

 FRS 115 Revenue From Contracts with Customers

 In November 2014, FRS 115 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in 
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. FRS will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes 
effective. Further clarifications to FRS 115 were also issued in June 2016.

 The core principle of FRS 115 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

•	 Step	1:	Identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer.
•	 Step	2:	Identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract.
•	 Step	3:	Determine	the	transaction	price.
•	 Step	4:	Allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract.
•	 Step	5:	Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation.

 Under FRS 115, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more 
prescriptive guidance has been added in FRS 115 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures 
are required by FRS 115.

 Management anticipates that the initial application of the new FRS 115 will result in changes to the accounting 
policies relating to revenue recognition and revenue will be recognised when (or as) a performance obligation is 
satisfied. Additional disclosures will also be made, including any significant judgement and estimation made. It is 
currently impracticable to disclose any further information on the known or reasonably estimable impact to the 
entity’s financial statements in the period of initial application as management has yet to complete its detailed 
assessment. Management does not plan to early adopt the new FRS 115. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 was issued in June 2016 and will supersede FRS 17 Leases and its associated interpretative guidance.

The standard provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in 
the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. The identification of leases, distinguishing between leases and 
service contracts, are determined on the basis of whether there is an identified asset controlled by the customer.

Significant changes to lessee accounting are introduced, with the distinction between operating and finance leases 
removed and assets and liabilities recognised in respect of all leases (subject to limited exceptions for short-term 
leases and leases of low value assets). The standard maintains substantially the lessor accounting approach under 
the predecessor FRS 17.

 Management anticipates that the initial application of the new FRS 116 will result in operating leases to be recognised 
as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities, unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases. The 
new requirement to recognise a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability is expected to have a significant impact 
to the amounts recognised in the Group’s financial statements and management is currently assessing its potential 
impact. It is not practical to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until management completes its 
detailed assessment. Management does not plan to early adopt the new FRS 116.

 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company: 

•	 has	power	over	the	investee;	
•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and	
•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.	

 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when 
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. 
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights 
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

•	 The	size	of	the	Company’s	holding	of	voting	rights	relative	to	the	size	and	dispersion	of	holdings	of	the	other	
vote holders; 

•	 Potential	voting	rights	held	by	the	Company,	other	vote	holders	or	other	parties;	

•	 Rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and	

•	 Any	additional	facts	and	circumstances	that	indicate	that	the	Company	has,	or	does	not	have,	the	current	ability	
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings. 

 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. 

 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid 
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and 
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that 
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 or the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

 In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net 
recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss. 

 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of 
assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are 
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). The 
subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity 
are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or 
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such 
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

•	 Deferred	tax	assets	or	liabilities	and	liabilities	or	assets	related	to	employee	benefit	arrangements	are	recognised	
and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

•	 Liabilities	or	equity	instruments	related	to	share-based	payment	transactions	of	the	acquiree	or	the	replacement	
of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of 
the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

•	 Assets	(or	disposal	groups)	that	are	classified	as	held	for	sale	in	accordance	with	FRS	105	Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

 Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. 

 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition 
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year from 
acquisition date.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of 
financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income or expense is recognised on an effective interest 
basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.

 Financial assets

 All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment 
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or 
loss”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at 
FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 It	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	future;	or

•	 On	 initial	 recognition,	 it	 is	 a	 part	 of	 an	 identified	portfolio	 of	 financial	 instruments	 that	 the	Group	manages	
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 It	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.	

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset and is included in ‘other gains’ and ‘other operating expenses’ lines in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses and interest calculated using the effective 
interest method which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined 
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised 
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

 Loans and receivables

 Trade and other receivables and amount due from subsidiaries that have fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective 
interest method, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

 Impairment of financial assets

 Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, 
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future 
cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

 For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below 
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include: 

•	 Significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty;	or
•	 Default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments;	or
•	 It	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	re-organisation.
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 For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of 
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. 

 For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed subsequently.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade or other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the profit or loss. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

 For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised. 

 When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not 
reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. 

 Derecognition of financial assets

 The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

 Classification as debt or equity

 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
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 Equity instruments

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities “at fair value through profit or loss” or other financial 
liabilities.

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

 Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as 
at FVTPL.

 A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

•	 It	has	been	incurred	principally	for	the	purpose	of	repurchasing	in	the	near	future;	or

•	 It	is	a	part	of	an	identified	portfolio	of	financial	instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	and	has	a	recent	
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

•	 It	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.	

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at 
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains’ and ‘other operating 
expenses’ lines in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the 
manner described in Note 4.

 Other financial liabilities

 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Interest expense calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing 
costs (see below).

 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, 
subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in accordance with 
FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or when they expire.
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 Offsetting arrangements

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when the Company and the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be 
available today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, 
both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 The Group as lessor

 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased 
asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the 
lease income.

 The Group as lessee

 Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see 
below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.

INVENTORIES - Inventories comprising raw materials and consumables are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost includes all cost of purchases and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and 
distribution.

 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS - Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue 
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting 
period, as measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated 
total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract 
work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its 
receipt is considered probable.
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 Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in 
the period in which they are incurred.

 When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an 
expense immediately.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the 
surplus is shown as amounts due from contract customers. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract 
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to contract 
customers. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, as a liability, as amounts due to construction contracts customers. Amounts billed for work 
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under 
trade receivables. 

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment under construction-in-progress includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowings costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, on the following bases:

Leasehold buildings and properties - over the terms of the lease which is 3%
 Plant and machinery - 5% to 20%
 Office equipment - 10% to 331/3%
 Motor vehicles - 10% to 20%
 Portable toilets - 20%

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts 
of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the tangible asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit or 
loss.

 ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES - An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. 
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies.

 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as 
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with FRS 105. Under the equity method, an investment 
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form 
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of 
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

 An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, 
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired. 

 The requirements of FRS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount 
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 36 Impairment of Assets as 
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its 
carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal 
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with FRS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases. 
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 The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate 
or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with 
FRS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity method 
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in 
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint 
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture 
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the 
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification 
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

 The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint 
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to 
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. 

 When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use 
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would 
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

 When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows.

 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 Dividends to the shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the 
Company’s shareholders.

 Accrual for profit sharing

 The Group recognises a liability and an expense for profit sharing if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

45Annual Report 2017



Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 Provision for rectification costs

 The Group recognises a liability and an expense for rectification costs upon completion of the construction work 
and the obligation is made based on management’s best estimates of the expected costs which are to be incurred 
pending the finalisation of the final account between the Group and its respective sub-contractors based on past 
experience and assessment of the projects.

 GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Government grants are recognised 
as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on 
a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 
profit or losses in the period in which they become receivable.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

 Sale of goods

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 The	Group	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	goods;

•	 The	Group	retains	neither	continuing	managerial	involvement	to	the	degree	usually	associated	with	ownership	
nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 The	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

•	 It	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	entity;	and

•	 The	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	in	respect	of	the	transaction	can	be	measured	reliably.

 Rendering of services

 Revenue from rendering of services of short-term nature is recognised when the services are completed.

 Income from providing financial guarantee is recognised in profit or loss over the guarantee period on a straight-line 
basis.

 Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on construction 
contracts (see above).

 Interest income

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable.

 Dividend income

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been 
established.
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 Rental income

 The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described above.

 Management fee income

 Management fee income is recognised in profit or loss as and when the services are rendered.

BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale.

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to 
defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

 INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in 
countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit. 

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered.
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 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to 
items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which 
case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively) or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business 
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each Group entity 
are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its 
functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the 
Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each 
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For 
such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of 
the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates 
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency translation reserve.

 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the 
accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation in the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve, 
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including 
monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency 
translation reserve.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and cash at bank and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 Management is of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgements that will have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, except for judgements involving estimations, which 
are dealt with below.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Recoverable amount of trade receivables and amount due from subsidiaries

(i) Allowances for doubtful trade receivables

 The policy for allowance for doubtful trade receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of 
collectability of debts, ageing analysis of accounts and on management’s estimate. A considerable amount 
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of trade receivables, including the current 
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer and on-going dealings with them. Where 
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of 
trade receivables in the period in which such estimate changed.

 As at the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of trade receivables is disclosed in Note 7 to the 
financial statements.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONT’D)

 
(a) Recoverable amount of trade receivables and amount due from subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(ii) Recoverable amount of amount due from subsidiaries
 

 The Company assesses annually whether the advances to subsidiaries have any indication of impairment 
in accordance with the accounting policy. Management evaluates, among other factors, the market and 
economic environment in which the subsidiaries operate, economic performance of these entities i.e. 
existing financial performance as well as operating profit forecasts and the duration and extent to which 
the cost of investments in these entities and advances to subsidiaries exceed their net tangible assets 
values. 

 As at the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of amount due from subsidiaries is disclosed in 
Note 9 to the financial statements.

(b) Recoverable amount of receivables from associates / joint ventures

(i) Dalian Shicheng Property Development (S) Pte Ltd (“DSPDS”) group, comprising DSPDS and its subsidiary 
- Dalian Shicheng Property Development Co., Ltd (“DSPDC”)

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether the advances to DSPDS group are 
recoverable. The carrying amount of advances to DSPDS group at the end of the reporting period is $Nil 
(2016 : $Nil) (net of allowance of $25,159,486) (2016 : $22,671,294) (Note 8).

 The ability to recover advances to DSPDS group is dependent on the ability to sell the properties (“Singapore 
Garden”) of DSPDC in Dalian, PRC at the values estimated by management and to develop the properties 
at the cost estimated by management. The values of properties have been estimated by management 
with the assistance of an independent valuer. 

 As at the end of the reporting period, total allowances of $25,159,486 (2016 : $22,671,294) had been 
made based on the estimated net realisable value of properties of DSPDC. The assessment of recoverable 
amount of advances to DSPDS group is based on market value of development properties assuming full 
completion of partially completed units and development of remaining land. 

(ii) Soon Zhou Investments Pte. Ltd. (“SZI”) group, comprising SZI and its subsidiaries 

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether the advances to SZI group are recoverable. 
The carrying amount of advances to SZI group at the end of the reporting period is $18,501,918 (2016 : 
$15,335,096), no impairment loss was recognised in 2017 and 2016 (Note 8).

 In 2016, SZI and its subsidiary contracted with DSPDC to purchase development properties in Singapore 
Garden for cash consideration of RMB201 million (equivalent to $42 million). The transfer of these 
development properties is in process as at March 31, 2017. 

 After considering the financial position of SZI group and the valuation of the properties in Singapore Garden 
estimated by an independent valuer, management expects the advances to SZI group to be recoverable. 
In making this assessment, significant assumptions include the ability of DSPDC to complete the 
development of certain partially completed units included in the sale to SZI group, transfer of ownership 
of the property units to SZI group in accordance with PRC regulations, and the ability of SZI group to realise 
the estimated values of the properties.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONT’D)

 
(b) Recoverable amount of receivables from associates / joint ventures (Cont’d)

(iii) Chang Li Investments Pte Ltd, Li Ta Investments Pte Ltd and Soon Li Investments Pte Ltd
 

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether the advances to these associates are 
recoverable. The carrying amount of advances to these associates at the end of the reporting period is 
$3,444,591 (2016 : $4,408,073) (net of allowance of $1,088,404) (2016 : $124,922) (Note 8).

 The recoverability of the advances to other associates is dependent on the ability to realise the estimated 
values of the properties (“Singapore Garden”) acquired from DSPDC in Dalian, PRC at the values estimated 
by management. The values of properties have been estimated by management with the assistance of an 
independent valuer.

 As at the end of the reporting period, total allowances of $1,088,404 (2016 : $124,922) had been made 
based on the estimated net realisable value of the properties. The assessment of recoverable amount of 
advances to these associates is estimated based on the market conditions reflecting the recoverability of 
the net assets in these associates.

(iv) Nexus Point Investments Pte Ltd (“Nexus”)

 The advances to Nexus are to fund the construction of a dormitory. The Group assesses at the end of 
each reporting period whether the advances to Nexus are recoverable. The carrying amount of advances 
to Nexus at the end of the reporting period is $11,137,093 (2016 : $13,444,904) (net of allowance of 
$3,800,000) (2016 : $Nil) (Note 8).

 The ability to recover advances to Nexus is dependent on the market value of the dormitory owned by 
Nexus, which was estimated by management with the assistance of an independent valuer. The critical 
judgements and estimations involved in evaluating the market value of the dormitory are market rental 
rate, market capitalisation rate and market price of similar dormitories located in vicinity. 

 As at the end of the reporting period, total allowances of $3,800,000 (2016 : $Nil) had been made as a 
result of reduction in market value of the dormitory. The assessment of recoverable amount of advances 
to Nexus is made based on the market conditions reflecting the recoverability of the net assets in Nexus.

(v) Gold Hyacinth Development Pte Ltd (“GHD”)
 
 The advances to GHD is to support its vessel charter operations. The Group assesses at the end of each 

reporting period whether the advances to GHD are recoverable. The carrying amount of advances to GHD 
at the end of the reporting period is $2,913,051 (2016 : $2,997,297) (net of allowance of $1,235,341) (2016 
: $1,045,300) (Note 8).

 The ability to recover advances to GHD is dependent on the market value of vessel owned by GHD, which 
was estimated by management with the assistance of an independent valuer. The critical judgements and 
estimations involved in evaluating the market value of vessel are market charter rate and market price of 
similar vessel. 

 As at the end of the reporting period, total allowances of $1,235,341 (2016 : $1,045,300) had been made 
based on the market conditions reflecting the recoverability of the net assets in GHD.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONT’D)

 
(b) Recoverable amount of receivables from associates / joint ventures (Cont’d)

(vi) Meadows Bright Development Pte Ltd (“MBD”)

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether the advances to MBD are recoverable. 
The carrying amount of advances to MBD at the end of the reporting period is $11,896,750 (2016 : 
$48,101,819), no impairment loss was recognised in 2017 and 2016 (Note 8).

 In assessing the recoverability of the advances to MBD, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the 
market and economic environment in which MBD operates as well as economic performance of MBD 
i.e. existing financial performance and the duration and extent to which the cost of investment in and 
advances to MBD exceed the net assets of MBD. 

(c) Assessment of contingent liabilities for corporate guarantees given in connection with bank loans of DSPDS 
group and SZI group (entities described in Note 3 (b)(i) and (b)(ii) above)

(i) The Company together with another shareholder (the “Joint Guarantor”) of the associate, DSPDS group, 
provided joint and several corporate guarantees to a bank for credit facilities utilised by DSPDS group for 
development of the Singapore Garden. At March 31, 2017, the outstanding bank loan of DSPDS group 
was $19,464,586 (2016 : $22,227,513).

(ii) In 2016, the Company and the Joint Guarantor provided joint and several corporate guarantees to a bank 
for a bank loan taken by SZI group to fund part of the acquisition of properties from DSPDC (Note 3(b)(ii)). 
At March 31, 2017, the outstanding bank loan is $17,700,935 (2016 : $21,989,143).

 In assessing whether the Group needs to record any liability in respect of the above joint and several 
corporate guarantees, management engaged an independent valuer to estimate the gross development 
value (“GDV”) of the properties of DSPDC which is the projected value upon full completion of development 
of properties which are currently partially developed. The valuation also includes the market value in 
existing state which is the GDV less all cost to complete, marketing cost, sales tax and developers’ profit 
and the value of the remaining land in respect of which there are no development plans. 

 Based on these estimates, management projects that DSPDS group will be able to realise sufficient 
proceeds to repay the bank loan referred to in paragraph (i) above.

 Management also projects that SZI group will be able to realise the estimated values of the properties 
purchased from DSPDC to enable SZI group to repay the bank loan referred to in paragraph (ii) above.

 It is anticipated that the Group together with the Joint Guarantor will be required to fund instalment 
payments due on the bank loans and cash required to continue development of partially completed units 
of DSPDC in the purchase contract referred to in Note 3(b)(ii). However, such payments are expected to 
be recovered subsequently from the eventual sale of properties in Singapore Garden.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
(CONT’D)

 
(c) Assessment of contingent liabilities for corporate guarantees given in connection with bank loans of DSPDS 

group and SZI group (entities described in Note 3 (b)(i) and (b)(ii) above) (Cont’d)

 Based on the above assessment, management has made the judgement that as of March 31, 2017, no 
provision for loss needs to be made in connection with the bank guarantees (2016: $Nil); and with the full 
impairment of the Group’s investment in and advances given to DSPDS group as at March 31, 2016 and 
2017, the Group’s discontinues recognition of any share of losses of DSPDS group consistent with the 
preceding financial year ended March 31, 2016.

 The above assessment is based on the best estimates of net cash flows which may be realised from sale 
of properties of DSPDC and is highly dependent on estimates of cost to complete the partially completed 
units, the ability to sell the properties for the estimated amounts, the timing of sale relative to timing of 
repayment of bank loans and the assumption that the Joint Guarantor will fund 50% of any cash required 
to continue development of the partially completed units of DSPDC and instalment payments due on the 
bank loans.

 Management will monitor the above projections, reassess the judgements and accounting estimates 
periodically.

(d) Impairment in value of investment in associates and joint ventures – Group level

 The Group assesses annually whether its investment in associates and joint ventures has any indication of 
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy. Critical judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty are disclosed in Note 3 (b) to the financial statements. 

 As disclosed in Note 15, carrying value of the investment in certain associates and joint ventures is $Nil at the 
end of the reporting period as the Group has recognised losses incurred by the associates and joint ventures 
to the Group’s cost of investment in the associates and joint ventures. The Group did not recognise the excess 
losses incurred by the associates and joint ventures as the Group does not have the legal or constructive 
obligation or made payments on behalf of the associates and joint ventures.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group had impaired the carrying value of its investment in associate  
amounting to $2,139,389 (Note 30). The recoverable amount was estimated based on the market conditions 
reflecting the recoverability of the net assets in associate.

 The carrying cost of the investment in associates and joint ventures is disclosed in Note 15 to the financial 
statements.
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(e) Impairment in value of investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures – Company level

 The Company assesses annually whether its investment in associates and joint ventures has any indication 
of impairment in accordance with the accounting policy. Critical judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty are disclosed in Note 3 (b) to the financial statements. 

 The Company also assesses annually whether its investment in subsidiaries has any indication of impairment in 
accordance with the accounting policy. Management evaluates, among other factors, the market and economic 
environment in which the subsidiaries operate, economic performance of these entities i.e. existing financial 
performance as well as operating profit forecasts and the duration and extent to which the cost of investments 
in these entities exceed their net tangible assets value and fair value less cost to sell.

 As at the end of the reporting period, an allowance of $10,000,000 (2016 : $10,000,000) had been made for 
investment in subsidiaries and $3,695,315 (2016 : $2,646,683) for investment in associates and joint ventures, 
estimated based on the market conditions reflecting the recoverability of the net assets in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures. 

(f) Revenue recognition and contract cost from construction contracts

 The Group recognises contract revenue and contract cost based on the percentage of completion method. 
The stage of completion is measured in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2. Significant 
assumptions are required in determining the stage of completion, the estimated total contract revenue and 
contract cost and the recoverability of the contract sum. In making the assumption, the Group relies on past 
experience. Revenue from construction contracts is disclosed in Note 27 based on the estimated costs to 
completion.

 Revenue arising from additional claims and variation orders, whether billed or unbilled, is recognised when 
negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claims 
or approve the variation orders, and the amount that it is probable will be accepted by the customer can be 
measured reliably.

(g) Provision for foreseeable losses

 The Group reviews its construction work-in-progress to determine whether there is any indication of 
foreseeable losses. Provision for foreseeable losses was made based on management’s assessment on total 
estimated contract costs that exceed total contract revenue. Management estimates total contract costs based 
on contracted amounts with subcontractors, and in respect of amounts not contracted for, management’s 
estimates of the amounts to be incurred taking into consideration current market conditions and historical 
trends of the amounts incurred.

 Identified foreseeable losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss when it is probable that total contract 
costs will exceed total contract revenue. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has assessed that no 
provision for foreseeable losses is required (Note 12).
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(a) Categories of financial instruments

 The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016 

$ $ $ $ 

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

(including cash and cash equivalents):

- Cash and cash equivalents 13,130,401  5,567,519 789,250 401,002

- Trade receivables 10,649,491 9,031,859 - -

- Other receivables 
 (excluding prepayments) 47,956,593 84,439,715 1,000  1,000

- Amount due from subsidiaries - - 6,923,284 7,107,146

- Amount due from customers 
 for contracts-in-progress 13,346,528  13,202,057 - -

85,083,013 112,241,150 7,713,534  7,509,148

Fair value through profit and loss:

- Held-for-trading 326,679 584,277 - -

Available-for-sale financial assets 32,225,051  31,392,803 24,687,834 24,207,866

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:

- Bank borrowings 20,701,514  28,100,470 - -

- Trade payables and bills payables 21,043,115 35,510,743 - -

- Other payables 2,163,453 4,627,470 1,418,463  3,796,202

- Amount due to a subsidiary - - 5,742,440 10,409,299

- Finance leases 451,755  510,254 - -

44,359,837  68,748,937 7,160,903 14,205,501
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(b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements

Financial assets

(a) (b) (c) = (a) - (b)

Type of  
financial asset

Gross amounts  
of recognised  

financial assets

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 
liabilities set off in 

the statement 
of financial position 

Net amounts of 
financial asset

$ $ $

2017

Amount due from an associate 370,719 (370,719)  - 

2016

Amount due from an associate 370,719 (370,719)  - 

 In 2017 and 2016, other than above financial instrument, the Group and Company does not have any other 
financial instruments that are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or similar netting 
arrangements. 

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives

 The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the financial 
performance of the Group.

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk (foreign currency exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

 The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

Foreign currency risk occurs as a result of the transactions that are not denominated in their respective 
functional currencies.

Transactions of the individual entities within the Group are mainly transacted in their respective functional 
currencies except for available-for-sale investments which is denominated in Thai Baht. 
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(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (Cont’d)

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group and the Company does not expect any material effect on 
the Group’s and the Company’s profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to 
foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period.

The foreign currency risk relating to available-for-sale investments do not have any effect on the Group’s 
and Company’s profit or loss as it is a non-monetary item and changes arising from foreign exchange is 
recognised in the investment revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment losses. 

The Company’s subsidiaries operate mainly in Singapore and transact mainly in Singapore dollars. 
Exposures to foreign currency risks are minimal. The Group’s associates operate mainly in Singapore and 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The Group is exposed to currency translation risk on the net assets in 
foreign operations mainly in PRC (Renminbi). 

(ii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk refers to the risk faced by the Group as a result of fluctuation in interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to certain bank borrowings and bills payables 
and the effective interest rates are disclosed in Note 4(c)(v). 

The Group is not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to loan to associates, certain bank 
borrowings and finance lease as the interest rate have been fixed at the inception of the advances to 
associates, certain bank borrowings and finance lease. Interest rate of the advances to associates is 
disclosed in Note 8, bank borrowings is disclosed in Note 17 and finance leases is disclosed in Note 20 to 
the financial statements. The Group does not have interest rate hedging policy and management monitors 
interest rate exposure closely.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for certain 
bank borrowings and bill payables at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis 
is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding 
for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally 
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of reasonably possible change 
in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
Group’s profit or loss would decrease/increase by $139,361 (2016 : $229,527).

(iii) Equity price risk management

The Group’s exposure to equity risks arise from equity investments classified as held-for-trading and 
available-for-sale investments. Available-for-sale investments are held for strategic rather than trading 
purposes. The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale investments. Further details of these equity 
investments can be found in Notes 10 and 16 to the financial statements.
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(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(iii) Equity price risk management (Cont’d)

Equity price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 
end of the reporting period.

In respect of held-for-trading equity investments, if equity prices had been 10% higher/lower and all 
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit or loss would increase/decrease by $32,668 (2016 
: $58,428).

In respect of available-for-sale investments, if equity prices had been 10% lower and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s and Company’s profit or loss would decrease by $3,201,466 and $2,468,783 
respectively (2016: $3,139,280 and $2,420,787 respectively). If equity prices had been 10% higher and all 
other variables were held constant, there is no impact to the Group’s and Company’s profit or loss. The 
Group’s and Company’s investment revaluation reserve would increase by $3,201,466 and $2,468,783 
respectively (2016 : $3,139,280 and $2,420,787 respectively).

(iv) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are 
continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved 
counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by the counterparty limits that are reviewed periodically by 
the management.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables in the construction industry in which the 
Group operates does exist in view of the limited number of main contractors that the Group has been 
dealing with, and in respect of other receivables, the Group has a balance from associates of $47,893,403 
(2016 : $84,292,539) and the Company has a balance from subsidiaries of $6,923,284 (2016 : $7,107,146).

The maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contract is 
disclosed in Note 36. Based on the expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers 
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances 
for losses, and the exposure to defaults from financial guarantees above, represents the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables, amount due from subsidiaries and financial 
guarantees are disclosed in Notes 7, 8, 9 and 36 to the financial statements respectively.
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(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(v) Liquidity risk management
 

 Liquidity risk arises when the Group is unable to meet its obligations towards other counterparties.

 The Group manages its liquidity risk by matching the payment and receipt cycle. The directors of the Group 
are of the opinion that liquidity risk is contained given that the Group has sufficient equity funds to finance its 
operations and that if required, financing can be obtained from its lines of banking credit facilities.

 Liquidity and interest risk analyses

 Non-derivative financial assets

 The following tables detail the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including 
interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group and the Company anticipates that 
the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash 
flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying 
amount of the financial asset on the statements of financial position.

Weighted 
average
effective

interest rate

On  
demand
or within 

1 year 

Within  
2 to

5 years
After 

5 years Adjustment Total

% $ $ $ $ $

Group

2017

Non-interest bearing - 40,506,398 - 2,273,515 - 42,779,913

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 2.11 8,619,941 - 35,177,762(1) (1,494,603) 42,303,100

49,126,339 - 37,451,277 (1,494,603) 85,083,013

2016

Non-interest bearing - 37,028,192 - 1,503,862 - 38,532,054

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 2.41 39,939,818 - 36,113,169(1) (2,343,891)  73,709,096

76,968,010 - 37,617,031 (2,343,891) 112,241,150

(1) Actual maturity date may differ from contractual maturity date as management expects the amount 
will be repaid after 5 years.
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(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

Weighted 
average
effective

interest rate

On  
demand
or within 

1 year 

Within  
2 to

5 years
After 

5 years Adjustment Total

% $ $ $ $ $

Company

2017

Non-interest bearing 7,713,534 - - - 7,713,534

2016

Non-interest bearing - 7,509,148 - - - 7,509,148

 Non-derivative financial liabilities

 The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The 
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group and Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and 
principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the 
instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial 
liability on the statements of financial position.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

Weighted 
average
effective

interest rate

On  
demand
or within 

1 year 

Within  
2 to

5 years
After 

5 years Adjustment Total

% $ $ $ $ $

Group

2017

Non-interest bearing - 12,157,567 - - - 12,157,567

Variable interest rate 
instruments 2.66 28,087,822 - - (215,540) 27,872,282

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 3.26 1,397,837 1,368,000 - (164,323) 2,601,514

Finance lease liability 
(fixed rate) 3.42 283,195 189,430 - (20,870) 451,755

Financial guarantee 
contract - 66,366,077 - - (65,089,358) 1,276,719

108,292,498 1,557,430 - (65,490,091) 44,359,837

2016

Non-interest bearing - 15,664,801 - - - 15,664,801

Variable interest rate 
instruments 3.04 45,636,576  809,218 -  (540,424) 45,905,370

Fixed interest rate 
instruments 3.56 2,040,353 2,972,331 - (362,214) 4,650,470

Finance lease liability 
(fixed rate) 2.61 280,188 242,677 - (12,611) 510,254

Financial guarantee 
contract - 100,743,222 - - (98,725,180)  2,018,042

164,365,140 4,024,226 - (99,640,429) 68,748,937
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

Weighted 
average
effective

interest rate

On  
demand
or within 

1 year 

Within  
2 to

5 years
After 

5 years Adjustment Total

% $ $ $ $ $

Company

2017

Non-interest bearing - 5,852,076 - - - 5,852,076

Financial guarantee 
contract - 99,362,497 - - (98,053,670) 1,308,827

105,214,573 - - (98,053,670) 7,160,903

2016

Non-interest bearing - 12,099,388 - - - 12,099,388

Financial guarantee 
contract - 154,408,116 - - (152,302,003)  2,106,113

166,507,504 - - (152,302,003) 14,205,501
 

(vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables, bank 
borrowings and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities 
are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements.

 The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

(vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (Cont’d)

 As at the end of the reporting period, the fair value measurements of the fair value through profit or loss 
– held-for-trading investments and available-for-sale investments for the Group and the Company were 
determined based on quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

 The fair value of the investment linked life insurance policy is based on the cash surrender value of the 
contracts stated in the annual statement of the policy (level 2).

 There is no transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year and prior year.

(d) Capital risk management policies and objectives

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

 The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Notes 17, 18 and 
20 to the financial statements, and equity attributable to owners of the parent, comprising issued capital and 
retained earnings. The Group is required to maintain a minimum Group’s net worth, a maximum gearing ratio and 
a minimum current ratio in order to comply with the financial covenants in the loan agreements with the banks.

 Management has reviewed the Group’s compliance with the financial covenants for its bank facilities and is 
satisfied that the Group has complied with them.

 Management reviews the capital structure on a yearly basis. As a part of this review, management considers the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of management, the 
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share as well as the issue 
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

 The Group monitors capital based on the Group’s gross gearing and net gearing. The Group’s gross gearing is 
calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity, whilst net gearing is calculated as net borrowings divided 
by total equity. Net borrowings are calculated as total bank borrowings, bills payables and finance leases as 
disclosed in Notes 17, 18 and 20 to the financial statements respectively, less cash and bank balances as 
disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Total borrowings 30,925,551  51,066,094

Total equity 75,089,870 76,421,434

Gross gearing (times) 0.41  0.67

Net borrowings 17,795,150 45,498,575

Total equity 75,089,870 76,421,434

Net gearing (times) 0.24  0.60
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5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the financial year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Rental income from an associate (16,577)  (16,662)

Interest income from associates (964,017) (1,521,389)

Management fee income from associates (109,730) (109,987)

Advances to associates 3,620,000 14,423,000

Advances to a joint venture 2,760,000  8,465,000

 In 2016, loans amounting to $8,465,000 were advanced to joint venture of the Group to enter into sale and purchase 
agreements with another associate of the Group, Dalian Shicheng Property Development Co., Ltd to purchase properties.

 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Directors’ and key managements’ remuneration:

- Short-term benefits 2,748,500  2,623,869

- Post-employment benefits 112,107  116,023

2,860,607 2,739,892

Directors’ fees 176,000  176,000

3,036,607 2,915,892

 The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.

6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Cash and bank balances 13,130,401 5,567,519 789,250 401,002
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONT’D)

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group that are readily convertible to cash within a short period 
of time. The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

 Cash balances held with certain banks amounting to $8,579,962 (2016 : $4,034,334) earn interest at an interest rate 
ranging from 0.17% to 1.00% per annum (2016 : 0.19% to 2.62% per annum).

7 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Unbilled trade receivables from construction contracts 7,153,723  6,393,107

Amounts receivable from construction contract customers 4,925,506 3,637,774

Amounts receivable from rendering of services 498,645  894,200

12,577,874 10,925,081

Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,928,383) (1,893,222)

Net 10,649,491  9,031,859

 Unbilled trade receivables from construction contracts represent the remaining balances of the contract sum on the 
construction contracts to be billed. In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, revenue is recognised on the 
progress of the construction work. Upon completion of the construction work, the balance of the contract sum to be 
billed is included as unbilled trade receivables.

 At March 31, 2017, retention monies held by customers for contract work amounted to $2,372,915 (2016 : $646,800). 
Retention sum of $2,189,965 (2016 : $646,800) is due for settlement after more than 12 months. They have been 
classified as current because they are expected to be realised in the normal operating cycle of the Group.

 The average credit period is 30 days (2016 : 30 days). No interest is charged on overdue trade receivables.

 Before accepting any new customer, the Group performs a background search on the credit worthiness and litigation 
status. The credit limit of the customers is reviewed periodically by the management. Concentration of credit risk 
with respect of trade receivables in the construction industry does exist in view of the limited number of main 
contractors that the Group has dealings with. The Group’s trade receivables comprises 5 debtors (2016 : 9 debtors) 
that individually represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables.

 Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $1,357,072 (2016 : $874,782) 
that are past due and not impaired, and $9,292,419 (2016 : $8,157,077) are neither past due nor impaired at the end 
of the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables as there has not 
been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold 
any collateral over these balances. The average age of trade receivables that are past due and not impaired is 62 days 
(2016 : 54 days).

 An allowance of $1,928,383 (2016 : $1,893,222) has been made for the estimated irrecoverable amounts from 
the rendering of services (including construction services). The allowance has been individually and collectively 
determined by reference to past default experience. Management believes that there is no further credit allowances 
required in excess of the allowance for doubtful receivables.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
 
 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period:
 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Not past due and not impaired 9,292,419  8,157,077

Past due but not impaired(i) 1,357,072  874,782

10,649,491 9,031,859

Impaired receivables – collectively assessed(ii) 1,928,383  1,893,222

Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (1,928,383) (1,893,222)

- -

Total trade receivables, net 10,649,491 9,031,859

(i) Ageing of receivables that are past due but not impaired: 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

< 3 months 1,068,740 661,773

3 months to 6 months 288,332 213,009

1,357,072 874,782

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of 
the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. 

(ii) These amounts are stated before any deduction for impairment losses. These debts are aged more than 2 
years. These receivables are determined to be impaired as at the end of the reporting period due to debtor in 
financial difficulties or have defaulted on payments. 

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables: 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 1,893,222  1,708,370

Amounts written off during the year (114,267) (30,000)

Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss (Note 33) 149,428  214,852

At end of the year 1,928,383 1,893,222
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8 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Current:

Amounts due from associates  
(Notes 5 and 15) 11,896,750 48,107,169 - -

Other receivables 17,995 4,790 - -

Prepayments 91,259 158,061 11,234 10,700

Advances to staff 300 300 - -

Deposits 44,895  142,086 1,000 1,000

12,051,199 48,412,406 12,234 11,700

Non-current:

Amounts due from associates  
and a joint venture (Notes 5 and 15) 67,279,884 60,026,886 - -

Less: Allowance for amounts  
due from associates and a joint venture (31,283,231) (23,841,516) - -

35,996,653 36,185,370 - -

 Advances to associates and a joint venture amounting to $33,723,138 (2016 : $69,674,762) are unsecured, repayable 
on demand and bear an interest of 2.5% (2016 : 2.5%) per annum. The remaining advances to associates are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The management does not expect the advances to associates 
and a joint venture amounting to $35,996,653 (2016 : $36,185,370) will be repaid within the next 12 months and as 
such has classified it as non-current. Management has assessed that the interest charged on advances to associates 
and a joint venture approximate the market rates and hence, the carrying amounts of these assets approximate their 
fair values.

 As at the end of the reporting period, an allowance of $31,283,231 (2016 : $23,841,516) was made for amounts due 
from associates (Note 3(b)(i)(iii)(iv)(v)). 

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 23,841,516 12,000,000

Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss (Note 30) 7,441,715 11,841,516

At end of the year 31,283,231 23,841,516
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9 AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES
 

Company

2017 2016

$ $

Subsidiaries – non-trade (Note 14) 15,526,456  15,710,318

Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (8,603,172)  (8,603,172)

6,923,284  7,107,146

 The loans granted to the subsidiaries are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand. As at the end of the 
reporting period, an allowance of $8,603,172 (2016 : $8,603,172) was made based on the market conditions reflecting 
the recoverability of the net assets in subsidiaries.

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables: 

Company

$

At April 1, 2015 -

Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss 8,603,172

At March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2017 8,603,172

10 HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS
 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Quoted equity shares, at fair value 326,679 333,152

Quoted debt securities, at fair value - 251,125

326,679 584,277

At beginning of the year 584,277 612,858

Disposal during the year (250,000) -

Fair value change on held-for-trading investments (7,598)  (28,581)

At end of the year 326,679 584,277

 In 2017, held-for-trading investments are investments in quoted equity (2016: quoted equity and debt securities) that 
offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity 
or coupon rate. The fair values of the quoted securities are based on quoted bid market prices on the last market day 
of the financial year. 
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11 INVENTORIES

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Raw materials and consumables 966,082  1,395,166

Less: Allowance for inventories obsolescence (259,460)  (276,003)

706,622 1,119,163

 Movement in the allowance for inventories obsolescence: 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 276,003  280,831

Reversal of allowance for inventories obsolescence (Note 33) (16,543)  (4,828)

At end of the year 259,460  276,003
 

 In 2017 and 2016, the decrease of allowance for inventories obsolescence was due to the utilisation of related 
inventories.

12 CONSTRUCTION WORK-IN-PROGRESS

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits  
(less recognised losses to date) 133,738,035 159,190,769

Less: Progress billing (123,686,500) (149,958,167)

10,051,535  9,232,602

Contracts-in-progress at end of the reporting period:

 Amounts due from contract customers 13,346,528 13,202,057

 Amounts due to contract customers (3,294,993)  (3,969,455)

10,051,535  9,232,602

 In 2017 and 2016, no provision for foreseeable losses had been recognised in profit or loss. 
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Leasehold
buildings and

properties
Plant and
machinery

Office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Portable
toilets

Construction 
in Progress Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Group

Cost:

At April 1, 2015  8,279,323 1,033,934 1,336,385 5,170,664 1,729,034 - 17,549,340

Additions 11,816 18,224 165,382  - 27,012 - 222,434

Disposals  (25,380)  (47,363)  (188,940)  (14,713)  (11,278)  -  (287,674)

At March 31, 2016 8,265,759 1,004,795 1,312,827 5,155,951 1,744,768 - 17,484,100

Additions - 133,316 62,224 499,815 - 171,465 866,820

Disposals - (14,420) (74,917) (198,240) (9,196) - (296,773)

At March 31, 2017 8,265,759 1,123,691 1,300,134 5,457,526 1,735,572 171,465 18,054,147

Accumulated 
depreciation:

At April 1, 2015  6,147,553  820,250  920,818 2,709,314 1,608,019 - 12,205,954

Depreciation for  
the year (1) 357,056 42,356 151,958 597,549 36,228 - 1,185,147

Disposals  (13,586)  (26,979)  (135,087)  (14,713)  (11,280)  -  (201,645)

At March 31, 2016 6,491,023  835,627  937,689 3,292,150 1,632,967 - 13,189,456

Depreciation for  
the year (1) 362,327 49,277 156,808 537,633 35,529 - 1,141,574

Disposals - (8,690) (66,177) (183,600) (9,196) - (267,663)

At March 31, 2017 6,853,350 876,214 1,028,320 3,646,183 1,659,300 - 14,063,367

Carrying amount:

At March 31, 2017 1,412,409 247,477 271,814 1,811,343 76,272 171,465 3,990,780

At March 31, 2016 1,774,736  169,168  375,138 1,863,801  111,801  -  4,294,644
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Total

$

Company

Office equipment

Cost:

At April 1, 2015, March 31, 2016 and 2017 15,350

Accumulated depreciation:

At April 1, 2015 5,712

Depreciation for the year 5,116

At March 31, 2016 10,828

Depreciation for the year 4,522

At March 31, 2017 15,350

Carrying amount:

At March 31, 2017 -

At March 31, 2016 4,522

 The Group’s certain plant and equipment with carrying amount of $1,002,700 (2016 : $921,853) are secured under 
finance leases.

(1) Included herein are depreciation expenses amounting to $1,217 (2016 : $4,884) which have been allocated to 
and recorded under the construction work-in-progress (Note 12).

 Details of the leasehold property held by the Group are set out below:
  

Location Description Area Tenure

8 Sungei Kadut Loop 
Singapore 729455

Single-storey built warehouse with 
a 3-storey ancillary office block on 
leased land from JTC Corporation

12,494 sq metre Lease term of 30 years  
from March 16, 1991
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14 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2017 2016

$ $

Unquoted equity shares - at cost  34,940,189  34,940,189

Less: Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary (i) (10,000,000) (10,000,000)

24,940,189 24,940,189

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees  
provided to banks on behalf of subsidiaries (ii) (Note 19) 1,459,224  1,201,962

Net 26,399,413 26,142,151

(i) The impairment loss in value of investment in subsidiary relates to impairment of investment in King Wan 
Development Pte Ltd who hold investment in Dalian Shicheng Property Development (S) Pte. Ltd.. Refer to 
Notes 3(e) to the financial statements for further details on impairment assessment of investment in subsidiaries. 

(ii) The Company has provided financial support to certain subsidiaries for a period of twelve months from the end 
of the reporting period so as to enable the subsidiaries to continue to operate as a going concern and meet their 
contractual obligations when they fall due.

Movement in the impairment loss on investment in subsidiary 

Company

2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 10,000,000  9,200,000

Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss -  800,000

At end of the year 10,000,000 10,000,000
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14 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

 The subsidiaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

Name of subsidiaries

Principal activities/  
Place of operation and  
country of incorporation

Proportion of  
ownership interest 

and voting  
power held

2017 2016
% %

King Wan Construction Pte Ltd (1) Provision of mechanical and electrical 
engineering services/ Singapore

100 100

K & W Mobile Loo Services Pte Ltd (1) Owner, renters and operators of mobile 
lavatories and other facilities/ Singapore

100 100

King Wan Industries Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding/ Singapore 100 100

King Wan Development Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding/ Singapore 100 100

Gold	Topaz	Pte	Ltd	(1) Investment holding/ Singapore 100 100

Harmony Investment Holding Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding/ Singapore 100 100

 (1) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore. 

15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

 

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Unquoted equity shares - at cost 11,455,846  11,455,846 - -

Deemed investment arising from financial 
guarantees provided to banks on behalf of 
Group’s associates and joint ventures 4,648,157  4,648,157 941,960 1,990,592

Excess of nominal value over fair value  
of advances given to associates 160,960  160,960 - -

16,264,963 16,264,963 941,960 1,990,592

Share of post-acquisition accumulated results, 
net of dividends received (10,229,835) (13,882,882) - -

Impairment loss on investment in an associate (2,139,389) - - -

Share of foreign currency translation reserve (1,034,068)  127,841 - -

Net 2,861,671  2,509,922 941,960 1,990,592
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D)

 The associates of the Group at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of associates

Principal activities/ 
place of operation and 
country of incorporation

Proportion of  
effective ownership 
interest and voting 

power held 

2017 2016

% %

Held through King Wan Development Pte Ltd

Meadows Bright Development Pte Ltd (1) Property development/ Singapore 40 40

Meadows Property (S’pore) Pte Ltd (2) Property development/ Singapore - 35.6

Bukit Timah Green Development Pte Ltd (3) Property Development/ Singapore 20 20

Dalian Shicheng Property  
Development (S) Pte Ltd. (1)

Property development and investment 
holding/ Singapore

36.6 36.6

Dalian Shicheng Property  
Development Co., Ltd (4)

Development, marketing, sale and 
management of residential and commercial 
properties/ People’s Republic of China

36.6 36.6

S.I. Property Co., Ltd. (5) Owner and rental of office and commercial 
space/ Thailand

30 30

Held through King Wan Industries Pte Ltd

Soon Li Investments Pte. Ltd. (6) Investment holding/ Singapore 49 49

Chang Li Investments Pte. Ltd. (6) Investment holding/ Singapore 49 49

Li Ta Investments Pte. Ltd. (6) Investment holding/ Singapore 49 49

Held	through	Gold	Topaz	Pte	Ltd

Gold Hyacinth Development Pte Ltd (1) Chartering of vessels/ Singapore 30 30

Held through Harmony Investment Holding Pte Ltd

Nexus Point Investments Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding/ Singapore 19 19
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

Name of joint ventures

Principal activities/ 
place of operation and 
country of incorporation

Proportion of  
effective ownership 
interest and voting 

power held 

2017 2016

% %

Held through King Wan Industries Pte Ltd

Soon Zhou Investments Pte Ltd (1) Investment holding/ Singapore 50 50

Held through Soon Zhou Investments Pte Ltd

Blue Oasis Investments Pte Ltd (1)(7) Investment holding/ Singapore 50 50

Dalian Blue Oasis Properties Co Ltd (7) Investment holding/ China 50 50

(1) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(2) In 2016, 88.9% owned by the Group’s associate, Meadows Bright Development Pte Ltd. Meadows Property 
(S’pore) Pte Ltd was disposed in 2017.

(3) 50.0% owned by the Group’s associate, Meadows Bright Development Pte Ltd. Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, 
Singapore.

(4) Dalian Shicheng Property Development Co., Ltd (“DSPC”) is 100% owned by the Group’s associate, Dalian 
Shicheng Property Development (S) Pte. Ltd (“DSPS”). 100% shareholdings in DSPC are pledged to a financial 
institution for banking facilities granted to DSPS.

 DSPC is audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA LLP, Dalian Branch.

(5) Audited by another firm of auditors, Thanapan & Associates, Certified Public Accountants, Thailand.

(6) Audited by Chan Leng Leng & Co, Singapore.

(7) Blue Oasis Investments Pte Ltd and Dalian Blue Oasis Properties Co Ltd are 100% owned by the Group’s joint 
venture, Soon Zhou Investments Pte Ltd.
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associates and joint ventures are set out below.

Dalian Shicheng Property Development (S) Pte Ltd’s Group (“DSPS”) 

2017 2016

$ $

Current assets 47,509,425  55,229,729

Non-current assets 79,830 107,338

Current liabilities (122,597,864) (127,347,853)

Capital deficiency (75,008,609)  (72,010,786)

Revenue 12,211,428  4,938,235

Loss for the year (4,043,149)  (60,948,870)

Other comprehensive income for the year 1,045,326  1,043,438

Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,997,823)  (59,905,432)

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in DSPS 
recognised in these consolidated financial statements: 

2017 2016

$ $

Net liabilities of the associate (75,008,609)  (72,010,786)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in DSPS 36.6%  36.6%

The Group’s interest in DSPS (27,453,151) (26,355,948)

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees  
provided to banks on behalf of DSPS 825,211 825,211

Excess of nominal value over fair value of advances given to DSPS  40,960  40,960

(26,586,980)  (25,489,777)

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised loss amounting to $26,586,980 (2016 : $25,489,777) 
incurred by DSPS as this represents loss in excess of the Group’s interest in DSPS. 
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

Meadows Bright Development Pte Ltd’s Group (“MBD”)

2017 2016

$ $

Current assets 16,819,716  134,079,924

Non-current assets 12,807,194 6,967,475

Current liabilities (23,543,185) (144,857,696)

Non-controlling interests -  1,116,722

Capital surplus (deficiency) 6,083,725  (2,693,575)

Revenue -  25,191,205

Profit (loss) for the year, representing total comprehensive income (loss) for  
the year 8,777,300  (2,901,668)

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in MBD recognised 
in these consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016

$ $

Net assets (liabilities) of the associate 6,083,725 (2,693,575)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in MBD 40% 40%

The Group’s interest in MBD 2,433,490 (1,077,430)

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees  
provided to banks on behalf of MBD  1,731,778  1,731,778

Excess of nominal value over fair value of advances given to MBD 120,000 120,000

Pre-acquisition profits not recorded by the Group  287,611  287,611

Impairment loss on investment in MBD (2,139,389) -

2,433,490  1,061,959

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in MBD 2,433,490  1,061,959
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

 Gold Hyacinth Development Pte Ltd (“GHD”) 

2017 2016

$ $

Current assets 1,955,869  2,930,372

Non-current assets 20,019,482 20,083,976

Current liabilities (3,722,369) (2,926,724)

Non-current liabilities (25,407,938) (25,115,008)

Capital deficiency (7,154,956)  (5,027,384)

Revenue 2,080,575  4,227,603

Loss for the year (1,933,925)  (5,605,532)

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (193,647)  155,448

Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,127,572)  (5,450,084)

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in GHD recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016

$ $

Net liabilities of the associate (7,154,956) (5,027,384)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in GHD 30% 30%

The Group’s interest in GHD (2,146,487) (1,508,215)

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees  
provided to banks on behalf of GHD 92,429  92,429

(2,054,058) (1,415,786)

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in GHD - -

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised loss amounting to $2,054,058 (2016 : $1,415,786) 
incurred by GHD as this represents loss in excess of the Group’s interest in GHD. 

78 King Wan Corporation Limited



Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017 

15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

 Soon Zhou Investments Pte Ltd’s Group (“Soon Zhou”) 

2017 2016

$ $

Current assets 32,654,193  45,076,349 

Non-current assets 21,601,986 4,953,196

Current liabilities (55,296,687) (52,876,290)

Capital deficiency (1,040,508)  (2,846,745)

Revenue - -

Profit (Loss) for the year 2,803,014 (1,272,162)

Other comprehensive loss for the year (996,777) (1,386,589)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 1,806,237 (2,658,751)

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Soon Zhou 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

2017 2016

$ $

Net liabilities of the joint venture (1,040,508) (2,846,745)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Soon Zhou 50% 50%

The Group’s interest in Soon Zhou (520,254) (1,423,373)

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees  
provided to banks on behalf of Soon Zhou 520,254 520,254

- (903,119)

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Soon Zhou - -

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised loss amounting to $Nil (2016 : $903,119) incurred 
by Soon Zhou as this represents loss in excess of the Group’s interest in Soon Zhou. 
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONT’D) 

 Nexus Point Investments Pte Ltd (“Nexus”) 

2017 2016

$ $

Current assets 6,429,758  2,528,454

Non-current assets 196,229,873 212,851,657

Current liabilities (9,560,351) (21,398,474)

Non-current liabilities (214,153,543) (196,244,020)

Capital (deficiency) surplus (21,054,263)  (2,262,383)

Revenue 9,249,822 417,348

Loss for the year, representing total comprehensive loss for the year (18,791,880)  (3,127,390)

 Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in Nexus 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

2017 2016

$ $

Net liabilities of the associate (21,054,263) (2,262,383)

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Nexus 19% 19%

The Group’s interest in Nexus (4,000,310) (429,853)

Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees 
provided to banks on behalf of Nexus 1,478,485  1,478,485

(2,521,825)  1,048,632

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Nexus - 1,048,632

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has not recognised loss amounting to $2,521,825 (2016 : $Nil) 
incurred by Nexus as this represents loss in excess of the Group’s interest in Nexus.

 Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material 
 

2017 2016

$ $

The Group’s share of loss (924) (14,164)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interest in these associates 428,181 399,331
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16 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Quoted equity shares, at fair value 32,014,662 31,392,803 24,687,834 24,207,866

Insurance contract, at fair value 210,389 - - -

32,225,051 31,392,803 24,687,834 24,207,866

 Investment in quoted equity shares

 The Group’s and Company’s investments in quoted equity shares include an impairment loss of $12,742,717 (2016 : 
$12,742,717) and $9,826,264 (2016 : $9,826,264) respectively.

 The investment in quoted equity securities offer the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and 
fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of these securities are based on the 
quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year.

 Investment in life insurance policy

 The life insurance policy relates to life insurance purchased for a key management personnel. 

17 BANK BORROWINGS 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Short-term bank borrowings 17,200,000  21,450,000

Current portion of long-term bank borrowings 2,202,370  3,030,995

19,402,370 24,480,995

Non-current portion of long-term bank borrowings 1,299,144  3,619,475

20,701,514 28,100,470

 The short-term bank borrowings extended by the banks to a subsidiary are on 3 to 6 months (2016: 1 to 6 months) 
revolving basis and are borrowed for the purpose of short-term cash commitments. The borrowings are guaranteed 
by the Company and bear interest at rates ranging from 2.30% to 3.55% (2016 : 2.69% to 4.08%) per annum, and 
are arranged at floating rates thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risks.

 The long-term bank borrowings extended by the banks to a subsidiary are for a term ranging from 2 to 5 years and 
are repayable over 8 to 60 (2016 : 9 to 60) monthly instalments. The long-term bank borrowings were drawn down for 
the purpose of financing on-going construction projects and guaranteed by the Company. Long-term bank borrowings 
amounting to $900,000 (2016 : $2,000,000) bear interest at 2.74% (2016 : 3.05%) per annum, and are arranged at 
floating rates thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risks. The remaining amount of long-term bank 
borrowings bear fixed interest at rates ranging from 2.80% to 4.50% (2016 : 2.80% to 4.50%) per annum.

 The carrying amounts of these borrowings approximate fair value as the interest rate approximates the prevailing 
market rate.
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18 TRADE PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLES

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Bills payables 9,772,282  22,455,370

Trade payables - outside parties 7,612,998 9,832,899

Accrual for subcontractor costs 3,657,835  3,222,474

21,043,115 35,510,743
 
 Bills payables are repayable between 3 to 5 months (2016 : 2 to 5 months) from the date the bills are first issued. 

The carrying amount of the bills payables approximates its fair value due to its short-term maturity. Bills payables bear 
interest at rates ranging from 2.20% to 2.44% (2016 : 2.08% to 3.51%) per annum and are supported by a corporate 
guarantee given by the Company.

 Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases. The average credit period on purchases 
of goods from outside parties is 3 months (2016 : 3 months). No interest is charged on overdue trade payables.

19 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Other payables 861,851 1,096,308 85,243  177,459

Associates (Note 15) 490 490 - - 

Directors 24,393 261,430 24,393 261,430

Accrual for profit sharing - 1,251,200 - 1,251,200

Financial guarantees 1,276,719 2,018,042 1,308,827 2,106,113

2,163,453 4,627,470 1,418,463 3,796,202

 The amounts due to associates and directors are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

 Included in the Group’s and Company’s non-trade payables at the end of the reporting period were unamortised 
financial guarantee fee income of $1,276,719 and $1,308,827 (2016 : $$2,018,042 and $2,106,113) respectively. 
The Company issued financial guarantees to financial institutions for credit facilities obtained by its subsidiaries, joint 
venture and certain associates (Note 36), and recorded a deemed financial guarantee fee income in accordance with 
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The deemed income was amortised over the period of 
the guarantee. The guarantee fee was not charged by the Company to the subsidiaries, joint venture and associates. 
The full amount of the guarantee fee is deemed to be the additional investment in the subsidiaries, joint venture and 
associates.

 The Group and Company is a party to financial guarantee contracts where it has provided financial guarantee of 
$66,366,077 (2016 : $100,743,222) to banks in respect of associates and joint venture of the Group. The Company 
also provides financial guarantee of $32,996,420 (2016 : $53,664,894) to banks in respect of certain subsidiaries.
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20 FINANCE LEASES

Minimum  
lease payments

Present value 
of minimum  

lease payments

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Group

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year 283,195 280,188 272,396 270,636

In the second to fifth years inclusive 189,430 242,677 179,359 239,618

472,625 522,865 451,755 510,254

Less: Future finance charges (20,870)  (12,611) N/A  N/A 

Present value of lease obligations 451,755 510,254 451,755 510,254

Less: Amount due for settlement 
within 12 months (272,396) (270,636)

Amount due for settlement after 
12 months 179,359 239,618

 It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term 
ranges from 4 to 5 years (2016 : 4 years). At the end of the reporting period, the average effective borrowing rate 
was 3.42% (2016 : 2.61%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus exposing the Group to 
fair value interest rate risk. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for 
contingent rental payments.

 The fair value of the lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

 The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets (Note 13).

21 AMOUNT DUE TO A SUBSIDIARY

 The amount due to a subsidiary was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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22 PROVISION FOR RECTIFICATION COSTS

 The provision for rectification costs represents management’s best estimate of the expected costs which are to be 
incurred pending the finalisation of the final account between the Group and its respective subcontractors, based on 
past experience and assessment of the projects.

 Movement for provision for rectification costs: 

Group
2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 988,383  1,408,227

Charge (Credit) to profit or loss 190,843 (280,816)

Payments (266,693)  (139,028)

At end of the year 912,533  988,383

23 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Group
2017 2016

$ $

Tax losses:
At beginning of the year - -

Credit to profit or loss 123,977 -

At end of the year 123,977 -

Accelerated tax over book depreciation:
At beginning of the year (214,859) (214,859)

Credit to profit or loss 66,523 -

At end of the year (148,336) (214,859)

Total (24,359) (214,859)

24 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Issued and paid-up:

At beginning and end of financial year 349,176,870 349,176,870 46,813,734 46,813,734

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and 
when declared by the Company. 
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25 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

 Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of Group’s presentation currency.

 Movement in foreign currency translation reserves:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

At beginning of the year 100,905 156,670

Changes during the year recognised in other comprehensive income (1,176,666) (55,765)

At end of the year (1,075,761) 100,905

26 INVESTMENT REVALUATION RESERVE 

 Investment revaluation reserve represents revaluation of available-for-sale investments to market values as at year-end. 

 Movement in investment revaluation reserves:

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

At beginning of the year -  305,554 - 235,621 

Changes during the year recognised 
in other comprehensive income 587,739 (13,048,271) 479,969 (10,061,885)

Reclassification to profit or loss on impairment - 12,742,717 -  9,826,264

At end of the year 587,739 - 479,969 -

27 REVENUE

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Amounts recognised from construction contracts 88,957,060  96,441,735

Rendering of services 2,491,789 3,501,276

Dividend income from available-for-sale investments 435,274  814,810

91,884,123 100,757,821
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28 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Rental income 696,358  882,827

Sundry income 13,250 126,008

Wage Credit scheme 15,596 60,934

Special Employment Credit 91,077 75,998

Productivity and Innovation Credit scheme 9,935 24,891

Management fee income (Note 5) 109,730 109,987

Interest income from:

Associates 964,017 1,521,389

External parties 51,614 37,466

Fee income from financial guarantee to associates 741,323 502,649

Net foreign exchange gain 183,641  - 

2,876,541 3,342,149

29 OTHER GAINS

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Dividend income from held-for-trading investments 9,432 9,407

30 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Allowance for amount due from associates 7,441,715  11,841,516

Impairment loss on investment in an associate 2,139,389 -

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments - 12,742,717

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 19,355 77,402

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 172 -

Changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments 7,598 28,581

Net foreign exchange loss -  199,216

9,608,229 24,889,432
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31 FINANCE COSTS 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Interest expense from:

Bank borrowings 1,264,778  1,353,683

Finance leases 17,962  18,263

1,282,740 1,371,946

32 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Current tax 1,495,983 1,901,298

Deferred tax (Note 23) (190,500) -

Withholding tax 44,092 82,056

Under (Over) provision of current tax in prior years 13,840  (30,284)

1,363,415 1,953,070

 Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2016 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit (loss) for the year.

 The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit (loss) as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Profit (Loss) before income tax 2,366,662 (15,941,016)

Income tax expense calculated at 17% (2016 : 17%) 402,333 (2,709,973)

Non-allowable items 2,304,631 4,627,912

Non-taxable items (577,983) (124,428)

Tax effect of share of results of associates (621,018) 361,777

Tax exemptions (114,649) (119,761)

Withholding tax 44,092 82,056

Corporate tax rebate (30,143) (79,020)

Others (57,688)  (55,209)

1,349,575 1,983,354

Under (Over) provision of current tax in prior years 13,840  (30,284)

1,363,415  1,953,070
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33 PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 

 Profit (Loss) for the year is arrived at after charging (crediting):

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Directors’ remuneration:

Company 1,430,121  1,239,074

Subsidiaries 874,236 246,754

Directors’ fees:

Company 176,000 176,000

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) 12,951,233 12,831,166

Costs of defined contribution plans included in staff costs 752,665 681,099

Allowance for doubtful receivables 149,428 214,852

Allowance for receivables from associate 7,441,715 11,841,516

Reversal of allowance for inventories obsolescence (16,543) (4,828)

Inventories written off 4,451 -

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 25,896,225 29,350,037

Net foreign exchange (gain) loss (183,641) 199,216

Audit fees:

Paid to auditors of the Company 179,100 161,500

Non-audit fees paid to the auditors of the Company - -

34 EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (CENTS)

 The basic earnings (loss) earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the Group’s profit (loss) for the year, 
$1,003,247 (2016 : loss for the year, $17,894,086) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 349,176,870 
(2016 : 349,176,870) in issue during the financial year. Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share is 0.29 cents 
(2016 : Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share is 5.12 cents).

 The fully diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using the same weighted number of ordinary shares as there 
are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

35 DIVIDENDS

 On August 3, 2015, the directors of the Company declared and paid a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 1.0 cents 
per share totalling $3,491,569 in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2015.

 On November 9, 2016, the directors of the Company declared and paid an interim one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.5 
cents per share totalling $1,745,884 in respect of the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
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36 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Corporate guarantees given to banks in

respect of credit facilities utilised by: 

Subsidiaries - - 32,996,420  53,664,894

Associates and a joint venture 66,366,077 96,532,187 66,366,077  96,532,187

66,366,077 96,532,187 99,362,497 150,197,081

Letter of guarantee given in favour of

The Controller of Residential

Property in respect of land held by 

associates -  4,211,035 -  4,211,035

66,366,077 100,743,222 99,362,497 154,408,116

 The maximum amount that the Group and Company could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contracts 
are $66,366,077 and $99,362,497 (2016 : $100,743,222 and $154,408,116) respectively. The Group and Company 
consider that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. 

37 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

 The Group as lessor

 The Group rents out part of its leasehold property in Singapore under operating leases. Rental income earned during 
the year was $696,358 (2016 : $882,827).

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease 
payments:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Within one year 322,647 311,490

2 to 5 years 4,527 3,074

327,174 314,564
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37 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONT’D)

 Operating lease payments represents rental receivable from tenants by the Group. Leases are negotiated for an 
average term of 1 year (2016 : 1 year) and rentals are fixed for an average of 1 year (2016 : 1 year).

 The Group as lessee 

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Minimum lease payments under operating leases included in profit or loss 269,199  332,944

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, 
which fall due as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$ $

Within one year 279,482  263,720

In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,118,693 1,044,041

After five years 826,960 -

Total 2,225,135 1,307,761

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for land spaces where its leasehold property 
is located. The lease is negotiated for a term of 30 years and rental is fixed annually. The rental commitment is 
computed based on the existing rate as at March 31, 2017.
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Business segments

 The segment information reported externally was analysed on the basis of the types of products and services provided 
by the Group’s operating segments. The information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the 
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance is focused on these operating segments. 
The reportable segments under FRS 108 are plumbing and sanitary, electrical, toilet rental and investment holdings.

 Plumbing and sanitary - Provision of plumbing and sanitary services includes the design and installation of water 
distribution systems and pipe network for sewage and waste water drainage.

 Electrical - Provision of electrical engineering services includes the design and installation of electricity distribution 
systems, fire protection, alarm systems, communications and security systems as well as air conditioning and 
mechanical ventilation systems.

 Toilet rental - Renting and operating of mobile lavatories and other facilities.

 Investment holdings - Group’s investment in associates and joint ventures.

 Others - For those other activities which do not fall into the above categories.

 Segment revenue and results are the operating revenue and results reported in the Group’s statement of 
comprehensive income that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of such revenue and 
results that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment.

 Inter-segment sales relates to sales between business segments and are stated at prevailing market prices. These 
sales are eliminated on consolidation.

 Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of cash, trade receivables, 
construction work-in-progress and property, plant and equipment. Unallocated assets comprise other assets that are 
not directly attributable to the segment. Capital expenditure includes the total cost incurred to acquire property, plant 
and equipment directly attributable to the segment.

 Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade payables, provision for rectification 
costs and accrued expenses. Unallocated liabilities comprise bank borrowings, finance leases, income tax payable, 
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities that are not directly attributable to the segment.

 Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below. The measurement basis of the Group’s 
reportable segments is in accordance with its accounting policy.
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
 

Plumbing and sanitary Electrical Toilet rental Investment holdings Others Eliminations Consolidated

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

External sales 66,091,146 56,885,087 22,865,914 39,556,648 2,495,857 3,508,278 435,274 814,810 - - (4,068) (7,002) 91,884,123 100,757,821

Results

Segment result 4,511,580 8,705,888 4,694,392 1,858,260 (717,638) 93,073 (5,492,784) (26,851,055) - - 88,571 119,730 3,084,121 (16,074,104)

Unallocated expenses (2,256,496) (1,739,074)

Net other operating income 2,821,777 3,244,108

Finance costs (1,282,740) (1,371,946)

Profit before income tax 2,366,662 (15,941,016)

Income tax expense (1,363,415) (1,953,070)

Profit (Loss) for the year 1,003,247 (17,894,086)

Other information

Capital expenditure additions 66,658 9,112 66,658 9,112 161,370 27,012 - - 572,134 177,198 - - 866,820 222,434

Fee income from financial 
guarantee to associates and 
joint ventures - - - - - - - - 1,054,548 1,002,083 (313,225) (499,434)  741,323  502,649

Depreciation * 19,536 16,075 19,536 16,075 285,726 273,090 - - 816,776 879,907 - - 1,141,574 1,185,147

Impairment loss on available-
for-sale investments - - - - - - - 12,742,717 - - - - - 12,742,717

Impairment loss on advances to 
associates - - - - - - 7,441,715 11,841,516 - - - - 7,441,715 11,841,516

Impairment loss on investment 
in an associate 2,139,391 - 2,139,391 -

Net allowance for doubtful 
debts 236,312 148,469 (141,988) 20,409 55,104 45,974 - - - - - - 149,428 214,852

* Includes depreciation expense of $1,217 (2016 : $4,884) allocated to construction work-in-progress.
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
 

Plumbing and sanitary Electrical Toilet rental Investment holdings Others Eliminations Consolidated

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue

External sales 66,091,146 56,885,087 22,865,914 39,556,648 2,495,857 3,508,278 435,274 814,810 - - (4,068) (7,002) 91,884,123 100,757,821

Results

Segment result 4,511,580 8,705,888 4,694,392 1,858,260 (717,638) 93,073 (5,492,784) (26,851,055) - - 88,571 119,730 3,084,121 (16,074,104)

Unallocated expenses (2,256,496) (1,739,074)

Net other operating income 2,821,777 3,244,108

Finance costs (1,282,740) (1,371,946)

Profit before income tax 2,366,662 (15,941,016)

Income tax expense (1,363,415) (1,953,070)

Profit (Loss) for the year 1,003,247 (17,894,086)

Other information

Capital expenditure additions 66,658 9,112 66,658 9,112 161,370 27,012 - - 572,134 177,198 - - 866,820 222,434

Fee income from financial 
guarantee to associates and 
joint ventures - - - - - - - - 1,054,548 1,002,083 (313,225) (499,434)  741,323  502,649

Depreciation * 19,536 16,075 19,536 16,075 285,726 273,090 - - 816,776 879,907 - - 1,141,574 1,185,147

Impairment loss on available-
for-sale investments - - - - - - - 12,742,717 - - - - - 12,742,717

Impairment loss on advances to 
associates - - - - - - 7,441,715 11,841,516 - - - - 7,441,715 11,841,516

Impairment loss on investment 
in an associate 2,139,391 - 2,139,391 -

Net allowance for doubtful 
debts 236,312 148,469 (141,988) 20,409 55,104 45,974 - - - - - - 149,428 214,852
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
 

Plumbing and sanitary Electrical Toilet rental Investment holdings Eliminations Consolidated

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Segment assets 18,743,742 17,746,831 5,623,988 4,846,050 2,225,813 2,799,870 82,980,125 118,195,264 (1,076) (1,076) 109,572,592 143,586,939

Unallocated assets 15,712,483  8,713,081

Consolidated total assets 125,285,075 152,300,020

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 18,251,555 23,115,302 6,457,047 16,735,536 4,033,684 3,999,781 - - (3,424,282) (3,111,986) 25,318,004 40,738,633

Unallocated liabilities 24,877,201 35,139,953

Consolidated total liabilities 50,195,205 75,878,586
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
 

Plumbing and sanitary Electrical Toilet rental Investment holdings Eliminations Consolidated

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Segment assets 18,743,742 17,746,831 5,623,988 4,846,050 2,225,813 2,799,870 82,980,125 118,195,264 (1,076) (1,076) 109,572,592 143,586,939

Unallocated assets 15,712,483  8,713,081

Consolidated total assets 125,285,075 152,300,020

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 18,251,555 23,115,302 6,457,047 16,735,536 4,033,684 3,999,781 - - (3,424,282) (3,111,986) 25,318,004 40,738,633

Unallocated liabilities 24,877,201 35,139,953

Consolidated total liabilities 50,195,205 75,878,586
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38 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D) 
 
 Geographical segments

 The Group operates mainly in Singapore. Revenue is reported based on the location of customers regardless of 
where the goods are produced or services rendered. Assets and capital expenditure are shown by the geographical 
areas in which these assets are located.

Revenue Non-current assets

2017 2016 2017 2016

$ $ $ $

Singapore 91,884,123 100,757,821 42,631,312 42,583,164

 Non-current assets above exclude investments held in Thailand. 

 Information about major customers

 There are 2 (2016 : Nil) external customers that amount to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.

39 IFRS CONVERGENCE IN 2019

 Singapore-incorporated companies listed on the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will be required to apply a new Singapore 
financial reporting framework that is identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group will be adopting the new framework for the first time for 
financial year ending March 31, 2019, with retrospective application to the comparative financial year ending March 
31, 2018 and the opening Statement of Financial Position as at April 1, 2017 (date of transition). Management is 
currently performing a detailed analysis of the transition options and other requirements of IFRS 1, including financial 
effects on transition to the new framework.

40 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

 On May 18, 2017, the Company has incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary in Singapore, Shinergy Engineering Pte 
Ltd (“Shinergy”), which has a total issued and paid-up capital of S$1,500,000. The principal activity of Shinergy is the 
provision of Mechanical and Electrical engineering services for the building and construction industry in Singapore. 

 The investment in Shinergy will be funded through internal resources and is not expected to have any significant 
impact on the earnings per share or net tangible assets per share to the Group for the next financial year. 
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King Wan Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is dedicated to implementing the 
highest standards of corporate governance at all levels within the Group and is committed to ensuring that the standards 
are maintained throughout so as to enhance the value for shareholders and the Group in the long term.

Your Board of Directors supports the principles of corporate governance as laid out in the Code of Corporate Governance 
2012 (the “2012 Code”), which forms part of the continuing obligations of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (SGX-ST)’s listing rule.

The Company has reviewed its best practices and ensured continued transparency and accountability in line with the 
principles of the 2012 code.

The Board is pleased to report to shareholders on the manner in which it has applied the principles of good governance 
and the extent to which it has complied with the best practices set out in the 2012 Code.

A. BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principal duties of the Board

The primary function of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) is to provide effective leadership and direction to enhance the 
long-term value of the Group to its shareholders and other stakeholders.

Besides discharging its fiduciary duties and statutory responsibilities, the principal function of the Board includes:

•	 formulation	of	corporate	strategies	and	charting	the	business	direction	of	the	Group,	 including	the	evaluation	and	
approval of major funding, investments and divestments;

•	 overseeing	the	business	and	affairs	of	the	Group	by	establishing	strategies	and	financial	objectives	to	be	achieved;
•	 ensuring	that	necessary	financial	and	human	resources	are	in	place	for	the	Group	to	meet	its	objectives;
•	 implementing	procedures	 in	 the	evaluation	of	 internal	controls,	 risk	assessment	and	management,	and	business	

reporting;
•	 review	management	performance;
•	 approving	the	nomination	of	directors;	and
•	 assuming	responsibility	for	the	adoption	of	good	corporate	governance	practices.

All directors exercise due diligence and independent judgment, and make decisions objectively in the best interest of the 
Group. This is one of the performance criteria for the peer and self assessment on the effectiveness of the individual directors.

Delegation by the Board

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a number of Board Committees including an 
Audit Committee (“AC”), a Nomination Committee (“NC”) and a Remuneration Committee (“RC”). These committees 
function within clearly defined written terms of reference and operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. 
The effectiveness of each committee is also constantly monitored. All the Committees are actively engaged and play an 
important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group. The Board accepts that while 
these various board committees have the authority to examine particular issues and will report back to the Board with their 
decision and/or recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all matters lies with the Board.

Key features of board processes

Regular Board meetings are held to discuss and decide on specific issues including significant transactions with related 
and non-related parties, investments and divestments of assets, annual budget review, review of the Group’s financial 
performance and to approve the release of the quarter, half-year and full-year financial results. Although specific guidelines 
have not been formulated to set forth the matters that require Board’s approval, the Board, in general, deals with matters 
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such as conflict of interest issues relating to directors and substantial shareholders, major acquisition and disposal of 
assets, dividend and other distribution to shareholders, and those transactions or matters which require Board’s approval 
under the provisions of the SGX-ST Listing Manual or any applicable regulations.

The attendance of the Directors at Board and Board Committee meetings in FY2017, as well as the frequency of such 
meetings, is disclosed in the table below. Notwithstanding such disclosure, the Board is of the view that the contributions 
of each director extend beyond his/her attendance at these meetings and their contribution also come in other forms 
such as through the sharing of expertise, advice, experience and strategic networking relationships that are outside the 
confine of the Boardroom. Ad-hoc non-scheduled board meetings are convened as warranted by particular circumstances. 
Telephonic attendance and conference via audio communication at board meetings are allowed under the Company’s 
Constitution.

Name
No. of Board

Meetings Attended

No. of
Audit Committee

Meetings Attended

No. of
Nomination 

Committee Meetings 
Attended

No. of
Remuneration 

Committee Meetings 
Attended

No. of meetings held 4 4 1 1

Chua Kim Hua 4 NA 1 NA

Chua Eng Eng 4 NA NA NA

Chua Hai Kuey 4 NA NA NA

Lim Hock Beng 4 4 1 1

Goh Chee Wee 4 4 1 1

Nathapun Siriviriyakul 1 1 NA -

The Group has in place an orientation program for new directors to ensure that incoming directors are familiar with the 
Group’s business, corporate governance policies, disclosure of interests in securities, disclosure of any conflict of interest in 
a transaction involving the Group, prohibitions in dealing in the Company’s securities and restrictions on disclosure of price 
sensitive information. The orientation program gives directors an understanding of the Group’s business to enable them 
to assimilate into their new roles. The program also allows the new director to get acquainted with senior management, 
thereby facilitating board interaction and independent access to senior management.

The directors are provided with continuing briefings and updates in areas such as directors’ duties and responsibilities, 
corporate governance, changes in financial reporting standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial 
statements, so as to enable them to properly discharge their duties as board or board committee members.

Briefings and updates provided for directors in Financial Year 2017 (“FY 2017”)

•	 At	AC	meetings,	the	external	auditor,	Deloitte	&	Touche	LLP,	briefed	the	AC	members	on	developments	in	accounting	
standards.

•	 The	Chairman,	Managing	Director	and	the	Executive	Director	update	the	board	at	each	meeting	on	business	and	
strategic developments.

Directors can request for further explanations, briefings or information on any aspect of the Company’s operations or 
business issues from management.

The Board is mindful of the best practice in the Code to initiate programs for directors to meet their relevant training needs. 
In this regard, the Group is supportive of members in the participation of industry conferences and seminars and in the 
funding of members’ attendance at any courses or training programs in connection with their duties as a director. The 
Company relies on the directors to update themselves on new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks.
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Sustainability issues 

The Board recognises the importance of the Company’s responsibility to achieve sustainable business growth in terms of 
corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) and environment conservation for the communities in which the Group operates. 
The Group’s CSR initiatives are set out under the “Corporate Social Responsibility” section of this report.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The Board comprise of six members, three executive directors & three non-executive directors. Details of the directors’ 
shareholdings in the Company are set out in the Directors’ Report.

Directors’ independence review

The Board comprised of three independent directors out of the total of six board members. The three independent 
non-executive directors are Mr. Lim Hock Beng, Mr. Goh Chee Wee, and Mr. Nathapun Siriviriyakul. The concept of 
independence adopted by the Board is in accordance with the definition of an independent director in the 2012 Code. 
The independence of each director is assessed annually by the Nomination Committee (‘NC”). Each independent direct is 
required to make annual declaration of Director’s independence based on guidelines as set out in the 2012 Code.

Directors who have no relationship with the Group, its related corporations, officers or its shareholders with shareholdings 
of 10% or more in the voting shares of the Company, that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with 
the exercise of the director’s independent business judgment in the best interests of the Group are considered to be 
independent.

The NC is tasked to determine on an annual basis and as and when the circumstances require whether or not a director is 
independent, bearing in mind the guidelines set forth in the 2012 Code and any other salient factors which would render 
a director to be deemed not independent. For the purpose of determining directors’ independence, every director has 
provided declaration of their independence which is deliberated upon by the NC and the Board.

The	 Board	 recognizes	 that	 independent	 directors	 may	 over	 time	 develop	 significant	 insights	 in	 the	 Group’s	 business	
and operations, and can continue to provide significant and valuable contribution objectively to the Board as a whole. An 
independent director’s contributions in terms of experience, expertise, integrity, objectivity and independent judgment in 
engaging and challenging the management in the best interests of the Company as he performs his duties are more critical 
measures in ascertaining his independence than the number of years he has served. 

Presently, Mr. Lim Hock Beng and Mr. Goh Chee Wee have served as independent directors of the Company for more than 
nine years. When there are such directors, the NC & the Board will do a rigorous review of their continuing contribution 
and independence and may exercise its discretion to extend their tenures in accordance to Guideline 2.4 of the 2012 Code.

Taking into account the views of the NC, the Board had concurred that both Mr. Lim Hock Beng and Mr. Goh Chee Wee 
continued to demonstrate strong independence in character and judgment in the discharge of their responsibilities as 
directors of the Company. They have continued to express their individual viewpoints, debated issues and objectively 
scrutinized	 and	 challenged	 management.	 They	 have	 sought	 clarification	 and	 amplification	 as	 they	 deemed	 required,	
including through direct access to the Group’s employees.

Further, having gained in-depth understanding of the business and operating environment of the Group, they have provided 
the Company with much needed experience and knowledge of the industry. Based on the declaration of independence 
received from them, they have no association with management that could compromise their independence.

After taking into account all these factors, and also having weighted the need for Board’s refreshment against tenure for 
relative benefit, the Board has determined that both Mr. Lim Hock Beng and Mr. Goh Chee Wee continue to be considered 
as independent directors, notwithstanding that they had served on the Board for more than nine years from the date of 
their first appointment.
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The NC had reviewed the independence of each non-executive director for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 and is 
of the view that the three Independent Directors of the Company satisfy the criteria of independence and each and every 
Director share equal responsibility on the Board.

The independent directors make up half of the Board, which satisfies Guideline 2.2 of the 2012 Code. This provides a 
strong and independent element on the Board. This is fundamental to good corporate governance as it facilitates the 
exercise of independent and objective judgment on corporate affairs. It also ensures that key issues and strategies are 
critically reviewed, constructively challenged, fully discussed and thoroughly examined.

Role of the non-executive directors

The Board and management fully appreciate that an effective and robust Board whose members engage in open and 
constructive debate, and challenge management on its assumptions and proposals, is fundamental to good corporate 
governance.

A Board should also aid in the development of strategic proposals and oversee effective implementation by management 
to achieve set objectives. For this to happen, the Board and non-executive directors (NEDs), in particular, must be kept well 
informed of the Group’s businesses and be knowledgeable about the industry the Group operates in.

To ensure that NEDs are well supported by accurate, complete and timely information, NEDs have unrestricted access 
to management. The Group has adopted initiatives to put in place processes to ensure that the Board and NEDs have 
sufficient time and resources to discharge their oversight functions effectively. These initiatives include:

•	 Regular	informal	meetings	are	held	by	management	to	brief	the	NEDs	on	prospective	deals	and	potential	developments	
at an early stage, before formal Board’s approval is sought.

•	 Periodic	 information	 papers	 and	 board	 papers	 on	 the	 latest	 market	 developments	 and	 trends,	 and	 key	 business	
initiatives are circulated to NEDs on a timely basis to allow the directors to have sufficient time to review them.

A write-up of the individual directors is included in this annual report.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chua Kim Hua, the founder of the Group and executive Director also assumes the role of Chairman of the Board. He 
plays an instrumental role in developing the business of the Group and provides the Group with strong leadership and 
vision. As the Chairman, Mr. Chua Kim Hua ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the meeting 
agenda in consultation with the Managing Director. He reviews the Board papers before they are presented to the Board 
and ensures that Board members are provided with adequate, timely and clear information. He facilitates the effective 
contributions of the Board members, encourages constructive relations among the Board members and promotes high 
standards of corporate governance.

Although the Managing Director and the Chairman are immediate family members, the balance of power and authority is 
provided by three committees, namely AC, NC and RC which are all chaired by the Independent Directors.

The Board had also appointed Mr. Lim Hock Beng to act as the Lead Independent Director. This is in line with Guideline 
3.3 of the 2012 Code. Shareholders with concerns may contact him directly when contact through the normal channels 
via the Chairman, or Managing Director has failed to provide satisfactory resolution, or when such contact is inappropriate. 
All the independent directors, including Lead Independent Director, meet at least annually without the presence of other 
executive and non-independent directors to discuss matters of significance which are then reported to the Chairman 
accordingly. The Lead Independent Director also sits on the NC.

Principle 4: Board Membership

As at the date of this Report, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprises the following members:
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Chua Kim Hua Executive Chairman
Chua Eng Eng Managing Director
Chua Hai Kuey Executive Director
Lim Hock Beng Lead Independent Director
Goh Chee Wee Independent Director
Nathapun Siriviriyakul Independent Director 

No alternate directors have been appointed as at date of this report.

Continuous Board Renewal

The Board, in conjunction with the NC, reviews the composition of the Board and Board committees annually, taking into 
account the performance and contribution of each individual director. Board composition is also evaluated to ensure diversity of 
skills and experience is maintained within the Board and Board committees. Based on the NC’s assessment of independence 
of each individual director and his or her relevant expertise, and with the aim of ensuring compliance with the requirements 
of the 2012 Code, the Board reviews, and reconstitutes as appropriate, the membership of the Board committees.

The NC is made up of three members, two of whom are independent. The NC is chaired by Mr. Goh Chee Wee. The other 
members of the Committee are Mr. Lim Hock Beng and Mr. Chua Kim Hua.

The NC, which has written terms of reference, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on all board 
appointments and re-appointments. The key terms of reference of the NC include the following:

•	 Review	 and	 recommend	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 the	 appointment	 and	 re-appointment	 of	 directors	 (including	 alternate	
directors, if applicable).

•	 Review	the	skills	required	by	the	Board,	and	the	size	of	the	Board.
•	 Ensure	that	the	Company	adheres	to	the	board	composition	rules,	including	having	independent	directors	make	up	

50% of the Board under certain circumstances.
•	 Identify	gaps	in	the	mix	of	skills,	experience	and	other	qualities	required	in	an	effective	board	so	as	to	better	nominate	

or recommend suitable candidates to fill the gap. It uses its best efforts to ensure that the Directors appointed to the 
Board possesses the relevant background, experience and knowledge and that each Independent Director brings to 
the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable the making of balanced and well-considered decisions.

•	 Evaluate	whether	or	not	a	director	is	able	to	and	has	been	adequately	carrying	out	his/her	duties	as	director	of	the	
Company and when he has multiple board representations.

•	 Develop	a	process	for	evaluating	the	performance	of	the	Board,	its	board	committees	and	the	contribution	of	each	
director.

•	 Formal	assessment	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	Board	as	a	whole	and	individual	director.
•	 Review	the	training	and	professional	development	programs	for	the	Board.
•	 Review	the	Board’s	succession	plans	for	directors.

The NC meets at least once annually, which will entail the calling of meetings, notice to be given of such meetings, the 
voting and proceedings. Minutes of the deliberations and proceedings of the NC are recorded by the Company Secretary. 
The number of meetings held and attendance at the meetings during the last financial year are presented under “Board 
Matters” in this report.

Recommendation of Directors

The NC is responsible for identifying candidates and reviewing all nominations for the appointment, re-appointment or 
termination of directors and Board committee members, taking into account the proper criteria for such appointments, the 
director’s independence status, his or her participation and contributions during and outside Board meetings, the Code of 
Corporate Governance and other relevant factors as may be determined by the NC.

The Board recognises the contribution of its independent directors. They have, over time, developed deep insight into the 
Group’s businesses and operations and are therefore able to provide invaluable contributions to the Group. As such, the 
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Board has not set a fixed term of office for each of its independent directors so as to be able to retain the services of the 
directors as necessary.

Directors’ time commitments and multiple directorships

All directors are required to declare their board representations. The limit on the number of listed company directorships 
that a director may hold should be considered on a case-by-case basis, as a person’s available time and attention may be 
affected by different factors.

A director with multiple directorships is expected to ensure that sufficient attention is given to the affairs of the Group. The NC 
believe that each individual director is best placed to determine and ensure that he is able to devote sufficient time and attention 
to discharge his duties and responsibilities as a director of our Company, notwithstanding his multiple board appointments.

The NC determines annually whether a director with multiple board representations and/or other principal commitments is 
able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a director of the Company.

The NC takes into account the results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the individual director, and the respective 
directors’ actual conduct on the board, in making this determination.

In respect of FY 2017, the NC was of the view that each director has discharged his/her duties adequately.

Process for selection and appointment of new directors

When an existing director chooses to retire or the need for a new director arises, the NC, in consultation with the Board, 
determines the selection criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience for the appointment 
as new director. The NC then meets with the shortlisted potential candidates with the appropriate profile before nominating 
the most suitable candidates to the Board for appointment as director. This function extends to the recommendation on 
nomination of directors for re-election or reappointment having regard to their contributions, performance and their ability to 
carry out duties as directors.

Process for re-appointment of directors

The NC is responsible for re-appointment of directors. In its deliberations on the re-appointment of existing directors, the 
NC takes into consideration the director’s contribution and performance (including his or her contribution and performance 
as an independent director, if applicable).

The assessment parameters include attendance record, preparedness, intensity of participation and candour at meetings 
of the Board and board committees as well as the quality of intervention and special contribution.

We believe the Board renewal should be an ongoing process in order to ensure good corporate governance. The Company’s 
Constitution requires one-third of the Board to retire and subject to re-election by shareholders at every annual general 
meeting (“AGM”).

The Directors are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once 
every three years. In addition, a newly appointed director will submit himself for retirement and re-election at the AGM 
immediately following his appointment. Thereafter, he is subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

At the forthcoming AGM, Ms. Chua Eng Eng, who is retiring by rotation, is seeking re-election under Article 115 of the 
Company’s Constitution. Mr. Chua Kim Hua and Mr. Lim Hock Beng, who are retiring pursuant to Article 119 of the 
Company’s Constitution, have also put themselves up for re-election.

The NC reviewed the above nominations for the re-appointment taking into account, the director’s individual credentials, 
his or her participation and contributions during and outside board meetings, as well as each director’s listed company 
board directorships and any other relevant time commitments.
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On the issue of competing time commitments that were faced when directors serve on multiple boards, the Committee 
noted that all the directors seeking re-election or re-appointment had adequately carried out their duties as directors of the 
Company during the year.

The NC, after assessing the contribution, performance and their effectiveness as directors, recommended that the above 
four directors be nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Nathapun Siriviriyakul, who is to retire pursuant to Article 116 of the Company’s Constitution, has expressed his 
intention not to seek re-election. His request has been accepted by the Nomination Committee.

Other key information on the individual Directors of the Company is set out in this Annual Report. Their shareholdings in the 
Company are also disclosed in the Directors’ Report. None of the Directors hold shares in the subsidiaries of the Company.

Principle 5: Board Performance

Board Evaluation Policy

The Board has implemented a process carried out by the NC, for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, 
effectiveness of its board committees and the contribution by each individual director to the effectiveness of the Board 
on an annual basis.

Board Evaluation process

Each director had individually completed a confidential questionnaire covering areas such as board composition, the 
effectiveness of the board in its monitoring role and the attainment of the strategic and long-term objectives set by the 
Board. Based on results of the qualitative questionnaires completed by the directors, the Company Secretary submitted a 
Summary Report to the NC for discussion.

The NC reviewed the Summary Report to ascertain whether there were key areas for improvement / areas that required 
follow-up actions.

The NC considered the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole taking into consideration, attendance records 
at respective board and committee meetings, the contribution of each individual director to the board’s effectiveness, 
board process, board accountability and communication with top management and standard of conduct. It also takes into 
consideration that the independent directors, despite the demands on their time, have the capacity to participate and 
contribute as members of the Board.

Based on the summary of median scores of the results of the qualitative questionnaires completed by the directors, and 
compared with the median scores of the performance evaluation exercise submitted for the preceding year, the Committee 
noted that the directors were generally satisfied and that the performance of the directors was good, and as a group, the 
board provided core competencies with accounting/finance, business or management experience and industry knowledge.

For FY 2017, the NC was satisfied that all directors had discharged their duties adequately for the financial year and that 
no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision-making process. The Board collectively not only 
reflect a diverse wealth of experience and knowledge in business, finance, accounting, and technical and management 
skills, but they also possess independence in decision-making at Board level. The Board as a whole had performed 
effectively	 and	contributed	 to	 the	growth	of	 the	Group.	The	NC	 is	 also	of	 the	view	 that	 the	Board’s	 current	 size	 and	
composition effectively serves the Group.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Complete, Adequate and Timely Information

All Directors are provided with the names and contact details of the Company’s senior management and the Company 
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Secretary to facilitate unrestricted access to senior management and the Company Secretary in carrying out their duties. 
Requests for information from the Board are dealt with promptly by Management.

The Board is kept informed of all relevant information on material events and transactions accurately and promptly as and 
when they arise. Management also consults the Board whenever necessary.

An agenda for Board meetings together with the relevant papers are prepared in consultation with the Managing Director 
and are circulated before the holding of each Board and committee meetings. This allows control over the quality, quantity 
and timeliness of the flow of information between Management and the Board. The Board papers include sufficient 
background explanatory information from the Management on financial, business and corporate issues to enable the 
Directors to be properly briefed on issues to be considered at Board meetings. Such explanatory information may also be 
in the form of briefings to the Directors or formal presentations made by senior Management staff in attendance at Board 
meetings, or by external consultants engaged on specific projects.

Company Secretary

Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is responsible for, among 
other things, ensuring that Board procedures are observed and that Company’s Constitution, relevant rules and regulations 
of the Companies Act and Listing Manual are complied with. She also assists the Chairman and the Board in implementing 
and strengthening corporate governance practices and processes, with a view to enhancing long term shareholder value.

Under the direction of the Managing Director, the Company Secretary ensures good information flows within the Board 
and its committees and between Management, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors.

The Company Secretary attends and prepares minutes for all Board meetings. As secretary for all board committees, 
the Company Secretary assists in ensuring coordination and liaison between the Board, the board committees and 
management. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman/Chairperson of board committees 
and management in the development of the agendas for the various Board and board committee meetings.

The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval. 

Independent Professional Advice 

The Board members may, at any time, in the furtherance of their duties, request for independent professional advice and 
receive training at the Company’s expense.

B. REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this Report, the RC comprises the following Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Goh Chee Wee, Chairman
Lim Hock Beng
Nathapun Siriviriyakul

The Board considers that the members of the RC collectively have strong management experience and expertise on 
remuneration issues.

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on executive remuneration, 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management personnel. In the event that a 
member of our RC is related to the employee under review, he will abstain from the review.
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The members of the RC carried out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference which include the following:

•	 Review	 and	 recommend	 to	 the	 Board	 for	 endorsement,	 a	 framework	 of	 remuneration	 for	 the	 Board	 and	 key	
management personnel. The framework covers all aspect of remuneration, including but not limited to director’s 
fees, salaries, allowances, bonus, and benefits in kind.

•	 Review	and	recommend	to	the	Board,	the	specific	remuneration	packages	for	each	director	as	well	as	for	the	key	
management personnel.

•	 Review	the	level	and	mix	of	remuneration	and	benefits	policies	and	practices	of	the	Company,	including	the	long-term	
incentive schemes on an annual basis. The performance of the Company and that of individual employees would be 
considered by the RC in undertaking such reviews.

•	 Review	the	Group’s	obligations	arising	in	the	event	of	termination	of	the	executive	directors’	and	key	management	
personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and reasonable termination 
clauses which are not overly generous.

•	 Review	the	development	of	senior	staff	and	assesses	their	strengths	and	development	needs	based	on	the	Group’s	
leadership competencies framework, with the aim of building talent and maintaining strong and sound leadership for 
the Group.

The RC has access to expert advice in the field of executive compensation outside the Company, when required, in framing 
the remuneration policy and determining the level and mix of remuneration for directors and key management personnel.

None of the members of the RC or any director is involved in deliberations in respect of any remuneration, compensation, 
share-based incentives or any form of benefits to be granted to him/her.

The Committee meets at least once annually.

The number of meetings held and attendance at the meetings during the last financial year are presented under “Board 
Matters” in this report.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

When setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into consideration current practices of companies in the same 
industry	and	companies	that	are	comparable	in	size	and	operations.	The	Group’s	financial	performance	and	the	performance	
of individual Directors are also taken into consideration.

The Group’s compensation framework comprises fixed pay, and variable bonus. These are linked to corporate and individual 
performance, based on an annual appraisal process. The level and structure of the remuneration of directors and key 
management personnel are aligned with the long term interest and risk policies of the Company.

In designing the compensation structure, the RC seeks to ensure that the level and mix of remuneration is competitive, 
relevant and appropriate in finding a balance between current versus long term compensation.

Executive directors do not receive directors’ fees. The structure for executive directors and key management personnel 
consist of the following components:

a. Fixed remuneration
b. Various bonus
c. Other benefits

Fixed remuneration

The fixed remuneration comprises basic salary, statutory employer’s contributions to the Central Provident Funds and 
fixed allowances. In setting remuneration packages, the Group takes into account pay and employment conditions within 
the same industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group’s relative performance and the performance of 
individual directors and key management personnel.
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Variable bonus

Variable bonus is an annual remuneration component which varies according to the Group’s and the individual’s performance 
objectives. To link rewards to performance, the more senior the executive in the Group, the higher is the percentage of 
the variable bonus against total compensation. The RC has also considered the use of contractual provisions to allow the 
Company to reclaim incentive component of remuneration from executive directors in exceptional circumstances.

The Executive Directors participates in profit sharing, which is based on the performance of the Group as a whole. 
Additionally, in making its decision regarding appropriate performance objectives, the RC also considered the following 
factors relative to profit before tax and profit after tax:

•	 Each	 executive	 director	 and	 key	 management	 personnel	 believe	 he	 or	 she	 can	 meaningfully	 contribute	 to	 the	
achievement of performance objectives set.

•	 Maintaining	the	consistency	of	the	objectives	over	a	number	of	years	allows	for	more	accurate	measurement	and	
comparison of, and reward for, the desired performance from year to year.

Other benefits

The Group provides benefits consistent with local market practice, such as medical benefits, club membership and car 
allowance. Eligibility for these benefits will depend on individual salary grade and length of service. There are no other 
long-term incentives accorded to the executive directors.

Remuneration of non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors will receive a basic fee and a fee for their appointments in the various Board Committees in FY 
2017. They will also receive additional fees if they are chairpersons of Board Committees. The Company is fully aware of the 
need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate the Directors. Directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for 
approval at the Company’s AGM. The directors’ fees recommended for FY 2018 amount to S$176,000 (FY 2017 : S$176,000).

Our Executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company, subject to renewal every three (3) years. 
The review of service contracts for Executive Directors come under the purview of the RC to ensure that fair and reasonable 
terms of service is tied in to performance. The service contracts of the Executive Directors were last renewed in 2014. 
Each service contract may be terminated by either party giving the other party at least three months prior written notice.

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

The breakdown of remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2017 is set out below:

Name of Director
Fixed

Component (1)

Variable
Component (2)

Provident
Fund (3)

Directors
Fees

Total
Compensation

% % % % %

Up to S$500,000
Chua Kim Hua 69% 29% 2% 0% 100%

Chua Hai Kuey 66% 32% 2% 0% 100%

Chua Eng Eng 64% 32% 4% 0% 100%

Up to S$250,000
Lim Hock Beng 0% 0% 0% 100% 100%

Goh Chee Wee 0% 0% 0% 100% 100%

Nathapun Siriviriyakul 0% 0% 0% 100% 100%
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Notes

(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary for the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus and profit sharing paid or payable.
(3) Provident Fund represents payment in respect of the Company’s statutory contributions to the Singapore Central 

Provident Fund.

To maintain confidentiality of the remuneration policies of the Group, the Board is of the view that it is in the best interests 
of the Group not to fully disclose details of remuneration of each individual Director.

Remuneration of Top Five Key Executives:

The following information relates to the remuneration of the Company’s top five key executives (not being directors) for 
the financial year ended March 31, 2017:

Name of Executive
Fixed

Component (1)

Variable
Component (2)

Provident
Fund (3)

Total
Compensation

% % % %

S$250,001 to S$500,000
First Executive 58% 37% 5% 100%

Second Executive 61% 34% 5% 100%

Third Executive 70% 24% 6% 100%

Up to S$250,000
Fourth Executive 56% 38% 6% 100%

Fifth Executive 65% 31% 4% 100%

Notes

(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary for the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus paid in the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
(3) Provident Fund represents payment in respect of the Company’s statutory contributions to the Singapore Central 

Provident Fund.

Due to competition related reasons, the names of the top five key management personnel are not disclosed.

For the financial year ended March 31, 2017, the aggregate remuneration (including employer CPF and benefits-in-kind of 
the top five key management personnel was S$1,375,771 (FY2016 :$1,269,953).

There is no termination, retirement or post-employment benefits granted to directors and the top key management 
personnel (who are not directors).

The Company currently does not have any employee shares scheme in place.

Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director

Ms. Chua Yean Cheng, the daughter of Mr. Chua Kim Hua (Chairman of the Group) and sister of Ms Chua Eng Eng 
(Managing Director of the Company), is employed by King Wan Construction Pte Ltd as an HR & Administration Manager 
and has received remuneration in that capacity.

Mr. Marc Chua, the son of Mr. Chua Kim Hua (Chairman of the Group), and brother of Ms. Chua Eng Eng (Managing Director 
of the Company), is employed by King Wan Construction Pte Ltd as a Senior Executive and has received remuneration in 
that capacity.
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Mr. Chua Zhi Hong, the son of Mr. Chua Hai Kuey (Executive Director of the Company), is employed by King Wan 
Construction Pte Ltd as a Senior Executive and has received remuneration in that capacity.

For FY2017, saved as disclosed in the following table, the Company and its subsidiary companies do not have any other 
employee who is an immediate family member of a director and whose remuneration exceeds S$50,000.

Name of Executive
Fixed

Component (1)

Variable
Component (2)

Provident
Fund (3)

Total
Compensation

% % % %

S$50,001 to S$100,000

Chua Yean Cheng 74% 13% 13% 100%

Marc Chua 71% 15% 14% 100%

Chua Zhi Hong 72% 14% 14% 100%

(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary for the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus paid in the financial year ended March 31, 2017.
(3) Provident Fund represents payment in respect of the Company’s statutory contributions to the Singapore Central 

Provident Fund.

C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely, reliable and full disclosure 
of material information to shareholders in compliance with statutory requirements and the Listing Manual of the SGX-
ST. Price sensitive information will be publicly released either before the Company meets with any group of investors or 
analysts or simultaneously with such meetings.

Financial results and annual reports are announced or issued within legally prescribed periods. The Board also ensures 
timely and full disclosure of material corporate developments to shareholders.

The Board also reviews regulatory compliance reports from management to ensure that the Group complies with the 
relevant regulatory requirements. For the financial year ended March 31, 2017, the Board has received assurance from the 
Managing Director and CFO that in the execution of their respective duties as Managing Director and CFO and to the best 
of their knowledge and belief, the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances, and regarding the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 
internal controls system.

The Group recognises the importance of providing the Board with accurate and relevant information on a timely basis. 
Hence, Board members receive regular financial and business reports from management. Such reports keep the Board 
members informed of the Company’s and the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

The Board reviews and approves the results as well as any announcements before its release. The Board provides 
shareholders with quarterly and annual financial reports. Results for the first three quarters are released to shareholders 
within 45 days from the end of the quarter. Annual results are released within 60 days from the financial year-end. In 
presenting the annual and quarterly financial statements to shareholders, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a 
balanced and clear assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. The Board also ensures timely and full disclosure of 
material corporate developments to shareholders.
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Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The AC, through the assistance of internal and external auditors, reviews and reports to the Board on the adequacy of the 
Group’s system of controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, established by Management.

In assessing the effectiveness of internal controls, the AC ensures primarily that key objectives are met, material assets 
are properly safeguarded, fraud or errors in the accounting records are prevented or detected, accounting records are 
accurate and complete, and reliable financial information is prepared in compliance with applicable internal policies, laws 
and regulations

Risk Management

The key risks of the Group are deliberated by Management and reported to the AC regularly. The AC reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the internal controls, which includes the documented policies and procedures, proper segregation of 
duties, approval procedures and authorities, as well as checks-and-balances built into the business processes. To ensure 
that internal controls and risk management processes are adequate and effective, the AC is assisted by various independent 
professional service providers. The Internal and External Auditors conduct reviews in accordance with their audit plans 
to assess the adequacy of the internal controls that are in place. Any material non-compliance and recommendations for 
improvements are reported to the AC.

Assurance from the CEO and CFO

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and CFO that:

•	 The	financial	records	of	the	Group	have	been	properly	maintained	and	the	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	
March 31, 2017 give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances; and

•	 The	system	of	risk	management	and	internal	controls	in	place	within	the	Group	is	adequate	and	effective	in	addressing	
the material risks in the Group in its current business environment including material financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology risks.

Based on the review of the key risks identified, and the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work 
performed by the internal and external auditors, reviews performed by Management and the AC; and the aforesaid 
assurances from the Managing Director and CFO, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the 
Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational compliance and information technology risks were adequate for 
the financial year ended March 31, 2017.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no cost 
effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement, poor judgment in decision-making, human errors, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Principle 12: Audit Committee

As at the date of this Report, the AC comprises the following Independent Non-Executive Directors who do not have any 
existing business or professional relationship with our Group, our Directors or Substantial Shareholders: -

Lim Hock Beng, Chairman
Goh Chee Wee
Nathapun Siriviriyakul
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The Chairman of the AC, Mr. Lim Hock Beng, sits on the Board of Directors of four other public companies in Singapore and 
has vast experience in the field of accounting, auditing and risk management. The other members of the AC have many 
years of experience in business and financial management. The Board is of the view that the members of the AC have 
recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience to discharge the AC’s functions.

The main responsibilities of the AC are to assist the Board in discharging its statutory and other responsibilities relating to 
four main areas:

•	 Overseeing	financial	reporting;
•	 Overseeing	internal	control	and	risk	management	systems;
•	 Overseeing	internal	and	external	audit	processes;	and
•	 Overseeing	Interested	Party	Transactions	(IPTs).

The AC will make enquiries in order to satisfy themselves on the adequacy of the processes supporting the Group’s financial 
reporting, its system of internal control, risk identification and management, its internal and external audit processes, and 
the Group’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own code of business conduct. The 
members of the AC carried out their duties in accordance with the written terms of reference which include the following:

•	 Review	the	significant	financial	reporting	issues	and	judgments	so	as	to	ensure	the	integrity	of	the	financial	statements	
of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance before their submission to 
the Board;

•	 Review	with	the	external	auditors,	their	audit	plan,	recommendations	to	management,	audit	report	and	management’s	
response thereto and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss, without the presence of management;

•	 Review	with	the	internal	auditors,	internal	audit	plan,	the	scope	and	the	results	of	internal	audit	procedures	and	their	
evaluation of the internal control system together with management’s responses thereto and any matters which the 
internal auditors wish to discuss, without the presence of Management;

•	 Review	the	quarter,	half	year	and	full	year	financial	statements	and	other	announcements	to	shareholders	and	the	
SGX-ST prior to submission to the Board;

•	 Recommend	to	the	Board	on	the	proposals	to	the	shareholders	on	the	appointment,	re-appointment	and	removal	of	
the external auditors, and their audit fee;

•	 Review	the	adequacy	of	the	Group’s	internal	controls;
•	 Review	IPTs	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	SGX-ST’s	Listing	Manual;
•	 Review	assistance	given	by	the	Group’s	officers	to	the	external	and	internal	auditors	and	ensure	that	the	internal	audit	

function is adequately resourced;
•	 Carry	out	such	other	functions	as	may	be	agreed	by	the	AC	and	the	Board.

The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and is authorised to obtain independent 
professional advice. It has full access to and co-operation of the management and reasonable resources to enable it to 
discharge its duties properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director or executive officer or any other person to 
attend its meetings.

Summary of the AC’s activities

The CFO, Company Secretary, internal auditors and external auditors are invited to AC meetings. Other members of senior 
management are also invited to attend as appropriate to present reports.

The AC had also held meetings with the external auditors and internal auditors separately, without the presence of 
management. These meetings enable the external auditors and internal auditors to raise issues encountered in the course 
of their work directly to the AC.
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The principal activities of the AC during FY 2017 are summarised below:

Financial reporting

The AC met on a quarterly basis and reviewed the quarterly and full year announcements, material announcements and all 
related disclosures to the shareholders before submission to the Board for approval. In the process, the AC reviewed the 
audit plan and audit committee report presented by the external auditors.

The AC reviewed the annual financial statements and also discussed with management, the CFO and the external auditors 
the significant accounting policies, judgment and estimate applied by the management in preparing the annual financial 
statements. The AC focused particularly on:

•	 Any	significant	adjustments	resulting	from	the	audit;
•	 The	appropriateness	of	the	going	concern	assumption	in	the	preparation	of	the	financial	statements;	and
•	 Any	deficiencies	in	internal	controls	over	financial	reporting	matters	that	came	to	external	auditor’s	attention	during	

their audit together with their recommendations.

Following the review and discussions, the AC then recommended to the Board for approval of the audited annual financial 
statements.

External audit processes

The AC manages the relationship with the Group’s external auditors, on behalf of the Board. During FY2017, the AC 
assessed the cost effectiveness of the audit process, together with the auditor’s approach to audit quality and transparency. 
The AC concluded that the auditors demonstrated appropriate qualifications and expertise and that the audit process was 
effective. 

The AC recommended to the Board that Deloitte & Touche LLP (the “External Auditors”) be re-appointed as the external 
auditor. The Board accepted this recommendation and has proposed a resolution to shareholders for the re-appointment 
of Deloitte & Touche LLP at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the requirement in the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual, an audit partner may only be in charge of a maximum of five 
consecutive annual audits. The current Deloitte & Touche LLP’s audit partner for the Company took over from the previous 
audit partner with effect from financial year 2016. In appointing auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant 
associated companies, the Group has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST’s Listing Manual.

Auditor independence

In order to maintain the independence of the external auditors, the Group has specific policy which governs the conduct 
of non-audit work by the external auditors. This policy prohibits the external auditors from:

•	 Performing	services	which	would	result	in	the	auditing	of	their	own	work;
•	 Participating	in	activities	normally	undertaken	by	management;
•	 Acting	as	advocate	for	the	Group;	or
•	 Creating	 a	mutuality	of	 interest	between	 the	auditors	 and	 the	Group,	 for	 example	being	 remunerated	 through	a	

success fee structure.

The AC undertook a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through discussions with the 
external auditors as well as reviewing any non-audit fees awarded to them. The AC is satisfied with the independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors after their review.
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Interested person transactions

The AC reviewed the Group’s IPTs to ensure that the transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and are 
not prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its non-controlling shareholders. On a quarterly basis, management 
reports to the AC the IPTs in accordance with the Company’s Shareholders’ Mandate for IPT.

Management reported that the internal control procedures for determining the transaction prices of IPTs had not change 
since the date of the last Annual General Meeting, at which the shareholders’ mandate for IPTs was last renewed. The AC 
is satisfied that the internal controls over the identification, evaluation, review, approval and reporting of IPTs was effective.

Whistle Blowing Policy

Management had on the recommendation of the AC put in place the Whistle Blowing Policy for the King Wan Group since 
financial year 2007. The AC has been presented with the professional qualifications and experience of the engagement 
partner, manager and key members of the consultant team. This policy provides a channel to employees and other parties to 
report in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other 
matters. The AC ensures that arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and appropriate 
follow up actions are taken. There have been no established incidents pertaining to whistle blowing for FY 2017.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The AC is responsible to approve the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the internal auditors. The AC will 
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the company.

The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to Ernst & Young Advisory Pte Ltd, an international accounting firm that 
is not the Company’s auditors. The AC has been presented with the professional qualifications and experience of the 
engagement partners, manager and key members of the consultant team.

The Partner-in-charge of the internal audit reported directly to the Chairman of the AC and assists in the identification of risks 
and assessing the adequacy of internal controls systems implemented. The Internal Auditors also made recommendations 
on how best to address material risks identified in the Group. The findings of the Internal Auditors are presented to the 
AC for review.

During the year, the Internal Auditors conducted its audit reviews based on the approved internal audit plan. All audit reports 
detailing findings and recommendations are provided to the Management who will respond on the actions to be taken. 
Periodically, the Internal Auditors would submit to the AC a report on the status of the audit plan and on audit findings, 
recommendations and actions taken by Management on such findings. Key findings are highlighted at the AC meetings for 
discussion and follow-up action. The AC monitors the timely and proper implementation of required corrective, preventive 
or improvement measures undertaken by Management.

The AC has reviewed the adequacy of the internal audit function and is satisfied that function is adequately resourced.

D. SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Principle 14: Shareholders’ Rights

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining transparency and accountability to its shareholders. The Board 
ensures that all the Company’s shareholders are treated equitably and the rights of all investors, including non-controlling 
shareholders are protected.

The Group is committed to providing shareholders with adequate, timely and sufficient information pertaining to changes 
in the Group’s business which could have a material impact on the Company’s share price.
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The Group strongly encourages shareholder participation during the AGM which will be held in Singapore. Shareholders 
are able to proactively engage the Board and management on the Group’s business activities, financial performance and 
other business related matters. The Constitution allows a shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in 
the shareholder’s place at the AGM. The Constitution also allows shareholders, who hold shares through nominees such 
as CPF and custodian banks, to attend the AGM as observers without being constrained by the two-proxy rule, subject to 
availability of seats.

Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders

Disclosure of information on a timely basis 

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate disclosure and transparency. The Group values 
dialogue sessions with its shareholders and believes in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders and is 
committed to hearing shareholders’ views and addressing their concerns.

Material information is disclosed in a comprehensive, accurate and timely manner via SGXNET, press release and the 
corporate website. To ensure a level playing field and provide confidence to shareholders, unpublished price sensitive 
information is not selectively disclosed. In the event that unpublished material information is inadvertently disclosed to any 
selected group in the course of the Group’s interactions with the investing community, a media release or announcement 
will be released to the public via SGX-net.

Interaction with shareholders

The Group’s management is available to communicate with shareholders and analysts on a regular basis and attending to 
their queries or concerns.

Key management personnel participate in investor seminars and conferences to keep the market and investors appraised 
of the Group’s corporate developments and financial performance.

Senior management, regularly engaged with local and foreign investors and analysts at conferences as well as one-on-one 
and group meetings. The aims of such engagements are to:

•	 Provide	shareholders	and	investors	with	relevant	information	promptly,	to	enable	them	to	have	a	better	understanding	
of the Group’s businesses and performance; and

•	 Solicit	feedback	from	the	investment	community,	including	shareholders,	on	a	range	of	strategic	and	topical	issues.	
Such engagements provide invaluable insights to the Board and management on investors’ views. It also helps the 
Group to identify areas of improvement for investor communication.

Dividend policy

The Board aims to declare and pay annual dividends to shareholders on a regular basis. In considering the level of dividend 
payments, the Board takes into account various factors including:

•	 The	level	of	our	available	cash;
•	 The	return	on	equity	and	retained	earnings;	and
•	 Our	projected	levels	of	capital	expenditure	and	other	investment	plans.

Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholders’ Meetings

The Board believes in regular, timely and effective communications with shareholders on all major developments that 
impact the Group. The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ 
meetings through published notices and reports or circulars sent to all shareholders. Each item of special business 
included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution. 
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The AGM procedures provide shareholders the opportunity to ask questions relating to each resolution tabled for approval. 
Opportunities are given to shareholders to participate, engage, and openly communicate to the directors, their views on 
matters relating to the Company.

Pertinent information is communicated to shareholders on a regular and timely basis through:

•	 the	Company’s	annual	 reports	 that	are	prepared	and	 issued	to	all	shareholders.	The	Board	makes	every	effort	 to	
ensure that the annual report includes all relevant information about the Group, including future developments and 
other disclosures required by the Singapore Companies Act, the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and the 
SGX Listing Manual;

•	 financial	statements	containing	a	summary	of	the	financial	information	and	affairs	of	the	Group	for	the	period	that	are	
published on the SGX-NET;

•	 disclosures	to	the	Singapore	Exchange;	and
•	 the	 Group’s	 website	 at	 www.kingwan.com	 from	 which	 shareholders	 can	 access	 information	 on	 the	 Group.	 The	

website provides annual reports and profiles of the Group.

In addition, shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM to ensure a greater level of shareholder participation and for 
them to be kept up to date as to the Group’s strategies and goals.

The Board views the AGM as the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders, being an opportunity for shareholders to 
raise issues and ask the directors or Management questions regarding the Group and its operations. They will also have 
the opportunity to address any questions to the Chairman of the NC, AC and RC. The external auditors will also be present 
to address shareholders’ queries about the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

Announcement of the results of each resolution are announced after the meeting via SGX-net. Minutes of general meetings 
will include substantial and relevant comments and queries from shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and 
responses from the Board and management. These minutes will be made available to shareholders upon their request.

Any queries and concerns regarding the Group can be conveyed to the following person:

Mr. Francis Chew, Chief Finance Officer
Telephone No. : 65-6866 9246
Fax No.: 65-6365 7675
E-mail: francisc@kingwan.com.sg

E. CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

King Wan’s Code of Business Conduct also sets the standards and ethical conduct expected of employees of the Group. 
Directors, officers and employees are required to observe and maintain high standards of integrity as are in compliance 
with the law and regulations and company policies.

F. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Insider Trading Policy

The Company has a formal policy on dealings in the securities of the Company, which sets out the implications of insider 
trading and guidance on such dealings. The policy has been distributed to all Directors and officers. It has adopted best 
practices on securities dealings in compliance with Rule 1207 (19) of the Listing Manual. In line with these best practices, 
the Company issues circulars to its Directors and officers informing that the Directors and its officers must not deal in its 
securities a month before the release of the full-year results and two weeks before the release of the quarterly results, as 
the case may be, and if they are in possession of unpublished material price-sensitive information. Directors and officers 
are also reminded that they should not deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations.
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Directors are required to notify the company of any dealings in the company’s securities within two business days of the 
transactions. The Board is satisfied with the Group’s commitment in compliance with the Code.

G. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Our Board confirms that for FY2017, our Company has complied with the principal corporate governance recommendations.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Dealing In Securities & Compliance With Best Practices Guide
The Company has adopted its own internal Code of Best Practices on Securities Transactions (“Securities Transaction Code”).

The Securities Transaction Code (the “Code”) provides guidelines to the Company’s directors and key officers of the Group 
who have access to ‘price sensitive’ information, in the dealing of Company’s securities. In accordance with Rule 1207(19) 
of the Listing Manual, directors and key officers of the Group should not deal in the Company’s securities on short-term 
considerations and should be mindful that the law on insider dealing is applicable at all times, notwithstanding that the Best 
Practices Guide may provide window periods for Directors and officers to deal in the Company’s securities. Circulars are 
issued to its directors and key officers that they must not trade in the listed securities of the Company two weeks before the 
release of the quarterly financial results and one month before the release of the full-year financial results, ending on the date 
of announcement of the relevant results. Outside this window period, Directors are required to notify the Company of their 
dealings within two business days under Section 165 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

The Board of Directors confirms that for the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Company has complied with Listing 
Rule 1207(19)(c).

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
When a potential conflict of interest arises, the director concerned does not participate in discussions and refrains from 
exercising any influence over other members of the Board.

As a listed company on the Singapore Exchange, the Company is required to comply with Chapter 9 of the Singapore 
Exchange Listing Manual on interested person transactions.
 
The Board of Directors is updated regularly on any interested person transactions and their cumulative values. If the Company 
intends to enter into an interested person transaction that was not previously approved by shareholders, the Board of Directors 
will ensure that the Company complies with the requisite rules under Chapter 9.
 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Company has complied with the provisions under Chapter 9.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in the report of the directors and financial statements, there was no other material contracts entered into by 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the Chairman, Managing Director, any Director or substantial 
shareholders.
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Shareholdings Statistics
As at 16 JUNE 2017

Issued and fully paid share capital S$46,813,734
Number of Issued Shares 349,176,870
Class of Shares Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights 1 vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 16 JUNE 2017

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 99 2 0.12 5 0.00

100 - 1,000 59 3.64 55,610 0.02

1,001 - 10,000 425 26.20 2,906,752 0.83

10,001 - 1,000,000 1,110 68.44 86,681,091 24.82

1,000,001 and above 26 1.60 259,533,412 74.33

Total 1,622 100.00 349,176,870 100.00

There are no treasury shares held by the Company as at 16 June 2017.     

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 16 JUNE 2017    
     

Name No. of Shares %

1 Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 87,440,300 25.04

2 Chua Kim Hua 43,938,319 12.58

3 Chua Eng Eng 33,461,906 9.58

4 Chua Hai Kuey 22,247,676 6.37

5 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 16,291,000 4.67

6 Liong Kiam Teck 8,607,000 2.47

7 Ong	Tze	King 6,266,000 1.80

8 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 5,256,000 1.51

9 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 4,412,800 1.26

10 Quah Biow Chye 3,730,000 1.07

11 Ang Jui Khoon 3,008,600 0.86

12 Some Yew Pew 2,738,100 0.78

13 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,697,200 0.77

14 Neo Tiam Poon @ Neo Thiam Poon 2,255,000 0.65

15 OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 2,062,200 0.59

16 Lau Koi Fong @ Lau Thim Thai 2,014,700 0.58

17 Hong Heng Co Pte Ltd 2,000,000 0.57

18 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,669,100 0.48

19 Ang Chin San 1,400,000 0.40

20 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,335,500 0.38

TOTAL  252,831,401 72.41
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Substantial Shareholders 
As at 16 June 2017 
as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Number of Ordinary Shares

Name of Substantial Shareholder Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total %

Mui Hia Holding Limited 76,875,000 - 76,875,000 22.02

Ganoktip Siriviriyakul (1) - 76,875,000 76,875,000 22.02

Chua Kim Hua 44,113,319 - 44,113,319 12.63

Chua Eng Eng 36,576,906 - 36,576,906 10.48

Chua Hai Kuey 22,247,676 - 22,247,676 6.37
      
Notes:-      
(1) Ms Ganoktip Siriviriyakul is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mui Hia Holding Limited by virtue of her 

100% shareholding interest in Mui Hia Holding Limited.

SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE HAND OF PUBLIC AS AT 16 JUNE 2017
The percentage of shareholdings in the hand of public is about 48.2%. Hence, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of 
the SGX-ST Listing Manual. 
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of King Wan Corporation Limited will be held at 8 Sungei 
Kadut Loop Singapore 729455 on Friday, 28 July 2017 at 9:30 a.m. to transact the following businesses:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2017 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. Resolution 1

2. To re-elect Ms Chua Eng Eng, who is retiring in accordance with Article 115 of the Company’s 
Constitution, as a Director of the Company. Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Mr Chua Kim Hua, who is retiring in accordance with Article 119 of the Company’s 
Constitution, as a Director of the Company. Resolution 3

4. To re-elect Mr Lim Hock Beng, who is retiring in accordance with Article 119 of the Company’s 
Constitution, as a Director of the Company. Resolution 4

[Mr Lim Hock Beng shall, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. Mr Lim 
Hock Beng shall be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.]

5. To note the retirement of Mr Nathapun Siriviriyakul who is retiring as a Director of the Company in 
accordance with Article 115 of the Company’s Constitution.

6. To approve the Directors’ fees of S$176,000 for the financial year ending 31 March 2018 (2017: 
S$176,000) to be paid on a quarterly basis, in arrears. Resolution 5

7. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as independent auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration. Resolution 6

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as ordinary resolution(s), with or without amendments:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be 
authorized	and	empowered	to:

(a) (i) allot and issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or  
 otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or 
would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as 
well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible 
into shares,

Transport arrangement has been made for the shareholders at the bus stop in front of Yew Tee MRT station. Transport 
will leave promptly at 9:10am.
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at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 
the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) 
issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company 
while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, 
made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall 
not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments to be 
issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 
twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares 
and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) shall be based on 
the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the 
capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and 

(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date 
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held 
whichever is earlier.

[See Explanatory Note(i)] Resolution 7

9. Proposed renewal of Share Purchase Mandate of the Company

“That 

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”), the 
exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or 
otherwise acquire ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) not exceeding 
in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined 
by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Purchase Price (as 
hereafter defined), whether by way of:-
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(i) market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”); and/or

(ii) off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on 
the SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access schemes as may be determined or 
formulated by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit, which schemes shall 
satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Act, 

 and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may 
for	 the	 time	 being	 be	 applicable,	 be	 and	 is	 hereby	 authorized	 and	 approved	 generally	 and	
unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the 
Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the 
Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of 
this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held; or

(ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to 
be held;

(c) in this Resolution:

 “Average Closing Market Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares 
over the last five (5) market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, before 
the day on which the Shares Purchases are made or, as the case may be, the date of the 
making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase pursuant to the equal access scheme, 
and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the 5-day period;

 “Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its 
intention to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares on an equal access 
scheme, stating the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Purchase Price 
calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access 
scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

 “Maximum Purchase Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased means an amount that 
includes any expenses (including brokerage, commission and other related expenses), incurred 
directly in the purchase by the Company of its own shares which shall not exceed, 

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, one hundred and five per cent. (105%) of the Average 
Closing Market Price (as defined hereinafter); and 

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, one hundred 
and twenty per cent. (120%) of the Average Closing Market Price (as defined hereinafter), 

“Prescribed Limit” means ten per cent (10%) of the issued Shares of the Company as at the 
date of passing of this Resolution;
 

(d)	 the	Directors	of	the	Company	and/or	any	of	them	be	and	are	hereby	authorized	to	deal	with	the	
Shares purchased by the Company, pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate in any manner as 
may be permitted under the Act; and 
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(e)	 the	Directors	of	the	Company	and/or	any	of	them	be	and	are	hereby	authorized	to	complete	and	
do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they 
and/or he may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated 
by this Resolution.”

[See Explanatory Note(ii)] Resolution 8

10. To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

Explanatory Notes: 
 
(i) The proposed Resolution 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion 

of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares 
pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued 
other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders. 

(ii) The proposed Resolution 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 
whichever is the earlier, to repurchase (whether by way of Market Purchases or Off-Market Purchases on an equal 
access scheme) from time to time of up to 10 per cent of the total number of issued ordinary shares excluding any 
shares which are held as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings by the Company at prices up to but not exceeding 
the Maximum Purchase Price. 

By Order Of the Board

Catherine Lim Siok Ching
Company Secretary

Date: 12 July 2017   
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Notes:

a) A member entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting is entitled to appoint no more than two proxies to attend, 
speak and vote on his behalf. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his 
shares to be represented by each proxy.

b) Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50., any member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to 
appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote at a general meeting. Relevant intermediary is either: 

(i)  a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides 
nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;

 
(ii)  a capital market services license holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and 

Futures Act (Cap. 289) and holds in that capacity; or 

(iii)  the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect 
of shares purchased on behalf of CPF investors.

c) If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 8 Sungei Kadut 
Loop Singapore 729455 not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

d) A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Personal Data Privacy: 

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representatives to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or 
any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its 
agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), 
and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect 
of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty hereof.
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Proxy Form

KING WAN CORPORATION LIMITED
(Company Registration No: 200001034R)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT
1. A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend the Annual General 

Meeting and vote (please see Note 3 for the definition of “relevant intermediary”).
2. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the Company, this Proxy 

Form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or is 
purported to be used by them.

3. Please read the notes to the Proxy Form.

I/We*                    (Name), NRIC/Passport number*                    

of                                                   (Address)
being a member/members* of King Wan Corporation Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport  
Number

Proportion of  
Shareholdings (%)

and/or*

Name Address NRIC/Passport  
Number

Proportion of  
Shareholdings (%)

as my/our* proxy/proxies* to attend and to vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held at 8 Sungei Kadut Loop Singapore 729455 on Friday, 28 July 2017 at 9:30 a.m. and at any adjournment 
thereof.

(Please indicate in the spaces provided whether you wish the number of vote(s) you wish to be cast for or against the 
resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will 
vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

No. Resolutions Number of
Votes For

Number of
Votes Against

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statements, Audited Financial Statements 
and Auditors’ Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2017

2 To re-elect Ms Chua Eng Eng as Director 

3 To re-elect Mr Chua Kim Hua as Director

4 To re-elect Mr Lim Hock Beng as Director

5 To approve the Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 31 March 2018, 
payable quarterly in arrears

6 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Independent Auditors

7 To authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares

8 To approve the proposed renewal of Share Purchase Mandate of the Company

Note: Please note that the short descriptions given above to the Resolutions to be passed do not in any way whatsoever 
reflect the intent and purposes of the Resolutions. The short descriptions have been inserted for convenience only. 
Shareholders are encouraged to refer to the Notice of Annual General Meeting for the full purpose and intent of the 
Resolutions to be passed.

Dated this      day of          2017 

                   
Signature(s) of member(s) or common seal 

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Total number of Shares held

 



NOTES:
1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities 

and Futures Act, Cap. 289), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number 
of shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his behalf at the general meeting. Where a 
member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shares to be represented by each such proxy, failing which, the nomination shall be deemed to 
be alternative. 

3. Pursuant to Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore, any member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote 
at the general meeting. Relevant intermediary is either:
(i) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) or its wholly-owned subsidiary which provides nominee services and holds shares in that capacity;
(ii) a capital market services license holder which provides custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act (Cap. 289) and holds in that capacity; or 
(iii) the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36), in respect of shares purchased on behalf of CPF investors.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 8 Sungei Kadut Loop Singapore 729455 not later than 48 hours 
before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or 
proxies	is	executed	by	a	corporation,	it	must	be	executed	under	its	common	seal	or	signed	on	its	behalf	by	an	attorney	duly	authorized	in	writing	or	by	an	authorised	officer	of	
the corporation. 

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney the letter or power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly certified copy 
thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may by resolution of its directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual 
General Meeting.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the 
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members of the 
Company whose shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such 
members are not shown to have shares entered against their names in the Depository Register at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting 
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting dated 12 July 2017.

Fold along dotted line

Fold along dotted line

Postage  
Stamp

To: The Company Secretary
KING WAN CORPORATION LIMITED

8 Sungei Kadut Loop
Singapore 729455



Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chua Kim Hua (Chairman)
Chua Eng Eng (Managing Director)
Chua Hai Kuey
Lim Hock Beng
Goh Chee Wee
Nathapun Siriviriyakul

LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Lim Hock Beng

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Lim Hock Beng (Chairman)
Goh Chee Wee
Nathapun Siriviriyakul

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Goh Chee Wee (Chairman)
Lim Hock Beng
Nathapun Siriviriyakul

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Goh Chee Wee (Chairman)
Lim Hock Beng
Chua Kim Hua

COMPANY SECRETARY
Catherine Lim Siok Ching, ACIS 

AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
6 Shenton Way
OUE Downtown 2, #33-00
Singapore 068809

AUDIT PARTNER
Ang Poh Choo
(First appointed in financial year ended 31 March 2016)

REGISTRAR
M&C Services Private Limited
112 Robinson Road
#05-01
Singapore 068902

BANKERS
CIMB Bank Berhad
CTBC Bank Co., Ltd
DBS Bank Ltd.
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Malayan Banking Berhad
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank
United Overseas Bank Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
8 Sungei Kadut Loop
Singapore 729455
Tel: 65-6368 4300
Fax: 65-6365 7675
E-mail: kwc@kingwan.com.sg
Website: www.kingwan.com



8 Sungei Kadut Loop
Singapore 729455

Tel: +65 6368 4300
Fax: +65 6365 7675
Email: kwc@kingwan.com.sg

www.kingwan.com

KING WAN CORPORATION LIMITED


